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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERW|E

4

On behalf of the board of directors of China Infrastructure Investment
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the final results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

ANNUAL RESULTS

Since early 2020, the outbreak of the coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19") has created significant disruption and uncertainty
to the business operations and livelihood of people throughout
the world. The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in government
authorities implementing various precaution measures, including
travel restrictions, quarantines, lock-down orders, business limitations
and shutdowns. These measures have negatively impacted business
activities generally, and have significantly contributed to deteriorating
macroeconomic conditions. The COVID-19 pandemic has had a
negative impact on our businesses during the financial year ended 31
December 2020.

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$127,414,000 as compared with approximately
HK$56,935,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$278,857,000 as compared
with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$28,909,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The increase
in loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 was primarily due to
(i) the loss arising on change in fair value of investment properties
amounting to approximately HK$77,892,000 (2019: approximately
HK$2,266,000); (ii) the impairment loss recognised in respect
of property, plant and equipment amounting to approximately
HK$87,937,000 (2019: nil); (iii) the impairment loss recognised in
respect of financial assets under expected credit losses model
amounting to approximately HK$40,723,000 (2019: nil); and (iv)
the share of losses of associates amounting to approximately
HK$144,569,000 (2019: HK$10,276,000).
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in FRZRME
BEZEAMR A A (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project is a
composite complex comprising two towers of commercial space and
service apartments. The commercial space tower is a six-storey tower
with a gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres and the service
apartments tower is an 18-storey tower with a gross floor area of
20,882.52 square metres. The total gross floor area of the Jiangning
Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which includes a
basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and land use
rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

As at 31 December 2020, 39,241.48 square meters of the gross
floor area of the commercial building have been sold. Approximately
20,100 square meters of the gross floor area of the service apartment
have been sold.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will provide
the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the consideration
which can generate stable revenue streams and cash surplus for the
Group. On 15 May 2020, the guarantors of the subscription agreement
had fulfilled their obligations regarding the return undertaking and
compensated the shortfall of the profit guarantee for the year ended 31
December 2019, being HK$36,000,000, to the Group.

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics”)
is principally engaged in the business of property rentals and operation
of storage units. Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics owns a property with a land
use area of 11,331.30 square metres, comprising of one building with
one storey of 704.16 square metres and another building with four storeys
of 10,807.91 square metres at Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The property is located in the
Tianjin Harbour, which is one of the main transportation hubs of the PRC.
The Company is of the view that the acquisition allows the Group to invest
in a property located within a promising district. It is believed that the
acquisition will provide a steady rental income stream to the Group amid
the current low interest rate environment as well as appreciation potential
of the value of the property owned by Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics.

RANZE (PE) BRAF ([FMEE]D
CEBEEAMATNAREBEEERAR
([ERFEMAE]) 2 100% %4 - MERE
MEaR s FEEERIERE JIEEAR
MRFBIIHEER IERER 2 AEER
BE (CI®BEE]) - IEBEE AHMIER
EMBBABREEAR A RRIER - &
HEEIER39241.48FFKRKZANERKRER
REKRIE  MELEEA20,882.52F 75K
Z18Em KB ARBAE - JIEHEHBE 2
BEEEIEL R 7464200 F K BIHELH
14,518.00 F 5 K Z & + LA K& 4920,050.90
FHKZ LHEARE -

MR-E-TFE+_A=+—H - Zigx e
2 H 48RS E 39,241.48 FF 7 K o HW‘
NEEE HAAEEAEIEL 20,100 F F K

(=
=
=

N,

AN

RERBAR - ZERELE/ANEETR
MERRAE 12% W F R $AGE - BERARNEE
%ﬁ%ﬂ%%*%&ﬁ%%%oﬁ_?_%

FAA+THBE  RBERAZERACET
B BT Fﬁﬂﬁé‘%lﬁfé@i;;

—NWEFTZA=T—HIEFEZHMEE
%8 (B 36,000,000 7T) ©

KREEYRARAR ((REBEYR])
FTEREMEREREREMEEER -
REEBEYREE —BURFERETX
EEERMARROYE tHEAT
BAE133130FF K (BEE—EmMEA
70416 F H KN —ERFRZ—EEEA
m&wm$ﬁ%%@ﬁ@?%%%¥ﬁ#
FREER@EEMR L — — KES - AR
RAEWEEESD ﬁﬁ%l&é%@ﬁai
HER 2 W% - ARFIRE - 1B AHEFIRR
BETIMERZEEYREEMEZFEE
7 WEEEAASEREREHEHSWA
IR ©

FEEZREERAF
—ER-TFEER



Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd. (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”) is
principally engaged in the business of property rentals and property
development. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is the legal owner of the land use
right for a parcel of land with an area of approximately 29,012.72
square metres located at Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The land is now for
industrial use and having two 4-storey buildings (namely Block Nos.
3 and 4) with a total gross floor area of 18,333 square metres under
construction. Whilst the construction work for the other 2 buildings
(namely Block Nos. 1 and 2) with a total gross floor area of 46,445
square metres was yet to commence. With the fast development of
the Tianjin’s logistics industry as well as the business and commercial
sector, the directors of the Company anticipate the land would have
greater development potential along with the economic growth of
Tianjin.

PROSPECTS

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group
in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable risk
profile of the Group and expected return will be considered. As a
result, the Group will strive to identify suitable projects with potential
for development and satisfactory returns across various sectors in the
PRC market.

XU Xiao Jun
Chairman

31 March 2021
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SRR e

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
PRC PROJECTS

Properties development and investment

Forward Investment (PRC] Company Limited

The principal assets of Forward Investment (PRC) Company Limited
(“Forward Investment”) is the 100% equity interests in FRZFME
R EEZAR AT (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*)
(“Nanjing Taihe Yingke”), which main asset is a complex development
project (the “Jiangning Project”) located in Jiangning Development
Zone, Nanjing, Jiangsu Province, the PRC. The Jiangning Project is a
composite complex comprising two towers of commercial space and
service apartments. The commercial space tower is a six-storey tower
with a gross floor area of 39,241.48 square metres and the service
apartments tower is an 18-storey tower with a gross floor area of
20,882.52 square metres. The total gross floor area of the Jiangning
Project is approximately 74,642.00 square metres which includes a
basement of approximately 14,518.00 square metres, and land use
rights of approximately 20,050.90 square metres.

As at 31 December 2020, 39,241.48 square meters of the gross
floor area of the commercial building have been sold. Approximately
20,100 square meters of the gross floor area of the service apartment
have been sold.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, this investment will provide
the annual return undertaking of not less than 12% of the consideration
which can generate stable revenue streams and cash surplus for the
Group. On 15 May 2020, the guarantors of the subscription agreement
had fulfilled their obligations regarding the return undertaking and
compensated the shortfall of the profit guarantee for the year ended 31
December 2019, being HK$36,000,000, to the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB EED AT

Properties investment

KECGEYREMRA A (Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company
Limited*)

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics”)
is principally engaged in the business of property rentals and operation
of storage units. Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics owns a property with a land
use area of 11,331.30 square metres, comprising of one building with
one storey of 704.16 square metres and another building with four storeys
of 10,807.91 square metres at Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The property is located in the
Tianjin Harbour, which is one of the main transportation hubs of the PRC.
The Company is of the view that the acquisition allows the Group to invest
in a property located within a promising district. It is believed that the
acquisition will provide a steady rental income stream to the Group amid
the current low interest rate environment as well as appreciation potential
of the value of the property owned by Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics.

KEELFEDREERAT (Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power
Equipment Co. Ltd.*)

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment Co. Ltd. (“Tianjin Hui Li Yuan”) is
principally engaged in the business of property rentals and property
development. Tianjin Hui Li Yuan is the legal owner of the land use
right for a parcel of land with an area of approximately 29,012.72
square metres located at Tianjin Economic and Technological
Development Zone, Tianjin City, the PRC. The land is now for
industrial use and having two 4-storey buildings (namely Block Nos.
3 and 4) with a total gross floor area of 18,333 square metres under
construction. Whilst the construction work for the other 2 buildings
(namely Block Nos. 1 and 2) with a total gross floor area of 46,445
square metres was yet to commence. With the fast development of
the Tianjin’s logistics industry as well as the business and commercial
sector, the directors of the Company anticipate the land would have
greater development potential along with the economic growth of
Tianjin.

*

For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB RE DT

OUTLOOK

The management will continue to look for investment opportunities
in the PRC so as to expand the development portfolio of the Group
in the future. In this regard, investment opportunities which offer
satisfactory returns to the Shareholders within the acceptable risk
profile of the Group and expected return will be considered. As a
result, the Group will strive to identify suitable projects with potential
for development and satisfactory returns across various sectors in the
PRC market.

HUMAN RESOURCES

At 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of approximately 29
staff in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group remunerates employees
based on their performance, experience and prevailing industry
practices so as to retain the competent and talented employees.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 was
approximately HK$127,414,000, as compared with approximately
HK$56,935,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The loss
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately HK$278,857,000 as compared
with the loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$28,909,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019. The increase
in loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 was primarily due to
(i) the loss arising on change in fair value of investment properties
amounting to approximately HK$77,892,000 (2019: approximately
HK$2,266,000); (ii) the impairment loss recognised in respect
of property, plant and equipment amounting to approximately
HK$87,937,000 (2019: nil); (iii) the impairment loss recognised in
respect of financial assets under expected credit losses model
amounting to approximately HK$40,723,000 (2019: nil); and (iv) the
share of losses of associates amounting to HK$144,569,000 (2019:
HK$10,276,000).
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The capital structure of the Group consisted of debt (which included
borrowings), cash and bank balances, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group monitors its liquidity requirements on a short to medium
term basis and arranges refinancing of the Group’s borrowings when
appropriate. At 31 December 2020, the underlying current ratio,
defined as current assets over current liabilities, was approximately
1.72 (2019: 1.87). At 31 December 2020, the underlying gearing
ratio, defined as the total borrowings over total equity (including non-
controlling interests), was approximately 24% (2019: 16%) while the
current liabilities to the total assets ratio was approximately 30% (2019:
21%).

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s equity attributable to owners of
the Company was approximately HK$483,087,000 a decrease of
approximately 34.0% over last year end which was approximately
HK$732,376,000. The net current assets at 31 December 2020
was approximately HK$153,450,000 (2019: HK$192,475,000) while
cash and bank balances at 31 December 2020 was approximately
HK$18,491,000 (2019: HK$2,024,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Certain properties of a subsidiary were pledged in favour of a PRC
trust company to secure the payment obligation of an independent
third party in the sum of approximately HK$95,352,000 (equivalent
to RMB80,000,000) granted by the PRC trust company in favour
of the independent third party. As at 31 December 2020, the
outstanding loan amount of the independent third party was
approximately HK$95,352,000 (equivalent to RMB80,000,000) and
the carrying amount of the pledged properties was approximately
HK$110,882,000.

The Group had no other material contingent liabilities.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

BAKE
AEBZAFEEREEY (AaEH

5) ReRRITHERARKRRES AR
s (BIEARE D BITRALRE)

REBEELRIFEER

AEBRPEHEEERRDESHT K -
TREERFSAEEEELHBRE - 1©

—E-FEF+-A=+—8 " HERHL
x (Eﬂiﬁ%ﬂﬁ&ﬁ%b&iﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ) /172
—NF187)  RZT_TF+_H
=+—H HEEraRLX (AREEK
ez (BFRIEERRER)) 895 24%
ZE-NF 1 16%)  MABBEHREE
ZHERKBI0% (ZF—ILF 1 21%) ©

RZTEZTF+ZA=+—8 ' AQA%
B AR & E # 5 4 5 483,087,000 74
JC 0 B & F K #9732,376,0007% JT R 4 4
340%  WR_ZE_ZTF+_A=+— HZ
B & EF(E L) A 153,450,0008 70 (=

— L 192,475,000 7T) - MR =T =
TFE+ A=+ —HZRESRIRITEHRN A
18,491,000/ 7T (=& — JL4F : 2,024,000
@E)

_/e/l\\/\ /¢§~

—ENBRARZE TYWEHERT —HEF
BiEtRr EA—BBILE=-HEZ
FEEEARBRTZBILIE=FABELD
95,352,000 % 7t (#HE 7 A K 80,000,000

L) EFMEMEANER - RZTZTF
T-A=+-—H BUE=ZHz2AEEE
L E 4 595,352,000 T (HERAR
80,000,000 7T) REAMENREELN R
110,882,000 7T °

AEBEYEAMEAKARIE



Management Discussion and Analysis
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CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2020, property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$110,882,000 (2019: HK$119,962,000) was
pledged as securities for payment obligation of an independent third

party.
FOREIGN CURRENCIES

During the year, most of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities of the Group were denominated in Hong Kong Dollars,
Renminbi and United Stated Dollars. The Group had no material
foreign exchange exposure risks during the year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to propose any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2020 (2019: nil).
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The board of directors (the “Board”) and the Management of the
Company are committed to the principles of corporate governance
and to maximise shareholders’ value. These principles and objectives
enhance the transparency, accountability and independence of the
Company and its ability to attract investment and protect rights of
shareholders. The Company continues to review the effectiveness
of corporate structure so as to improve its corporate governance
practices.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) for the year
ended 31 December 2020, except for the following deviations:

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing. Mr. Xu Xiao Jun,
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, had also been appointed
as the Chairman of the Company since 31 July 2017. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and is adequately ensured by current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The term of office for non-executive Directors including
independent non-executive Directors of the Company is not specific.
It is provided in the Company’s articles of association that all the
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the annual general meetings of the Company and are
eligible for re-appointment. The Directors are of the view that such
provision in the Company’s articles of association has been able to
safeguard corporate governance.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct governing directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules throughout the financial year. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has a duty to act in good faith and in the best interests
of the Company and is accountable for the manner in which the
affairs of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. The
Directors are collectively responsible for the success of the Company.
The Board, as at 31 December 2020, comprised:

(a) three executive Directors, namely Mr. Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Ye De Chao and Mr. Ji Xu
Dong; and

(b) three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. He Jin
Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang and one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications, accounting and
related financial expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

The Company considers that the Board has a range of the necessary
skills and experiences for discharging their duties. All Directors have
been kept informed of major changes on a timely basis that may
affect the Company'’s business.

INDEPENDENT PROFESSIONAL ADVICE

The Directors may, in appropriate circumstances, take independent
professional advice from external consultants including counsels, at
the Company’s expense. During the year under review, counsels were
engaged to provide the Board with advice on legal matters.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to formulate the objectives of the
Company, make decisions on strategic plans and budgets, monitor
the performance of the Senior Management, determine and review
the strategy of the Company, oversee the Company’s compliance
with statutory and regulatory requirement and to ensure that there is a
sound system of internal control and risk management with a goal of
protecting the interests of all shareholders.

Sufficient notices accompanying with agendas for regular and non-
regular board meetings were given to all of the Directors so that full
attendance could be attained and timely information was provided so
that informed decisions could be made. The Board conducts meeting
on a regular and ad hoc basis, as required by business needs.

The Board held totally 6 board meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of Board Meetings (1 January 2020 -
31 December 2020)

EXEEE

EFEQTHRTER  FESEARFZE
12 AR B RABELRE - BEES
i&%@Z%fﬁ\ - RVSE: P WN/NC T
CERARBETEAEREEREZE
/R C ARERAEEAERE2 ZABEER
REILFRLG - WRIEZ B RS

::mP

PREFCORTHIECHEZSSRER
R BN HE  UWERSESHELE
ZESBERIELRREREREMNBERAT
T’Eﬂj%ﬂ’F?%E cEEETHRITEENRTEE
(¥BFERBITHRRIEE

RAMBERERN  EFTGHBITORESFS
% MERES 2 H/FERERMT

EEggHLRER (28— A
AE-ZF-FF+-A=+—H)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
R B HE =
Number of board meetings EEEEELIH 6
Directors EE
Executive Directors HITEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman and RME (EEFRITEAER) 6/6 100%
Chief Executive Officer)
YE De Chao i 6/6 100%
JI Xu Dong ZER 6/6 100%
Independent Non-executive Directors HINTEE
HE Jin Geng fAr& Bk 6/6 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l 6/6 100%
CHEN Yang 59E3 6/6 100%
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed at least three independent non-executive
directors and one of whom must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. As at 31 December 2020, the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company (the “INEDs”) represented at least one-third
of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Board is aware of other commitments of the INEDs and is
satisfied that these do not conflict with their duties as the Directors
of the Company. The Company has received from each of the INEDs
an annual confirmation of his independence as required under Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Company
considers that each of the INEDs is independent.

The terms and conditions of appointing the INEDs are available for
inspection at the Company'’s registered office.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director is provided with an induction package
covering the Group’s business and the statutory regulatory
obligations of a director of a listed company so as to ensure that he/
she has appropriate understanding of the business and operation
of the Group and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and the relevant regulatory
requirements.

Code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code requires that all Directors
of the Company should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This
is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the year under review, all Directors of the Company
participated in continuous professional development programmes
and provided a record of training they received to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director for the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out below.

HE-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HIFE " &
EEMERIEIIECERYIBRT o

Types of continuous professional
development programmes

BESERRABER
Executive Directors HiTEF
XU Xiao Jun wME A B
YE De Chao EShY | A B
JI Xu Dong ESIEES B
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
HE Jin Geng A Bk B
YU Hong Gao BiaTm B
CHEN Yang BR¥ B

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading journals, newsletter, seminar materials and updates relating to
the latest development of the Listing Rules, other applicable regulatory
requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities

A HERNER S HAwE R R

B: HEBMLMMA  HUBEREERENM
EERBLRATZEFTERORT - &
A FETE MR EE AR

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Since 31 July 2017, Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, the Chief Executive Officer,
was also appointed as the Chairman of the Company. The Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person has the benefit of ensuring consistent
leadership within the Group and enables more effective and efficient
overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board believes that
the balance of power and authority for the present arrangement will
not be impaired and is adequately ensured by current Board which
comprises experienced and high calibre individuals with sufficient
number thereof being independent non-executive Directors.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board, headed by the Chairman, reserves for its decision all
major matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring
of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board regularly reviews and ensures that
corporate governance principles are in place and at good standard.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established internal committees which are of no
less compliance requirements than those set out in the CG Code
of the Listing Rules, namely, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee, Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.
To further reinforce independence, these four committees are
structured to include a majority of independent non-executive
Directors.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee was chaired
by Mr. Yu Hong Gao, an independent non-executive Director with
other committee members comprising two other independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He Jin Geng and Ms. Chen
Yang and one executive Director, namely Mr. XU Xiao Jun. The
Remuneration Committee comprises a majority of independent non-
executive Directors that brings an independent and objective view
to the remuneration packages of the executive Directors and Senior
Management of the Company to provide a significant degree of
protection to the shareholders. No director involved in deciding his/
her own remuneration.

During the financial year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors and the Senior Management,
including discretionary bonus, which were based on individual
performance, skill and knowledge, involvement in the Group’s affairs
and performance and profitability of the Group.
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The Remuneration Committee determines the specific remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and Senior Management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments; and makes recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors. The responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee are described in the terms of reference
adopted. Details of the remunerations of the Directors are shown on
pages 111 to 112 of this annual report. The Remuneration Committee
had met once during the financial year and the attendance of
individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Remuneration Committee Meeting
(1 January 2020 — 31 December 2020)

YNEESETENTEE RSN EIRE
MR ESMEE (BEFESEMNE  BRe
BFNEESRE)  URRIIENTEENG
rRESEgRLESR - FTNEES2EASH
MR Z BESE A - EEHIFIEH
RAERFIIIE112H - FHEESENAK
BIREERNRITT —Rke#  EApKEzH
FERCERE A T ©

FHESRES Y HERS (CBoBE—
A-BZ-2-BF+=-A=+-A)

Attendance
Attendance Rate
HERE HEE
Number of remuneration FHEERSERE
committee meeting 1
Members %8
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
YU Hong Gao (Chairman) Balm (/) 1/1 100%
HE Jin Geng fAr& Bk 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang B 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
XU Xiao Jun wME 1/1 100%
= = =
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REEES

As at 31 December 2020, the members of the Nomination Committee
included three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. He
Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen Yang with Mr. Xu Xiao Jun,
an executive Director, as the Committee Chairman.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board for its approval on the appointment of the Directors,
evaluation of board composition and the management of board
succession with reference to various aspects as well as factors
concerning board diversity as set out in the Company’s board
diversity policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be based
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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The Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting
and recommending candidates for directorship including the
consideration of referrals and engagement of external recruitment
professionals when necessary. The Chairman of the Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the person responsible for human
resources and the secretary of the Nomination Committee, should
be primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda
for each Nomination Committee meeting. Potential candidates are
then considered at the Nomination Committee meetings based on
their experience, professional qualifications, independence and
their expected remuneration packages to complement the corporate
strategy and achieve board diversity, where appropriate, before
making recommendation to the Board. The Nomination Committee
held one meeting during the financial year and the attendance of
individual member is recorded as below.

Attendance Record of Nomination Committee Meetings (1 January
2020 — 31 December 2020)

REZESETHEREBEFTAEZE
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Attendance
Attendance Rate
R B HER
Number of nomination REZESERNRH
committee meetings 1
Members o4
Independent Non-executive Directors HUINTTEE
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao EIFAN= 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang 59E3 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) wNME () 1/1 100%

The Nomination Committee completed the following work in 2020:

(1) Reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board;

(2) Made recommendations to the Board on the re-election of
directors retiring at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 24 June 2020; and

(3) Assessed the independence of all the independent non-
executive directors of the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee reviews the Company’s financial reports,
internal controls and corporate governance issues, appointment of
external auditors and review their independency and makes relevant
recommendations to the Board. The written terms of reference which
describes the authority and duties of the Audit Committee has been
prepared and adopted with reference to “A Guide for The Formation
of An Audit Committee” and “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
and amended in accordance with the CG Code.

As at 31 December 2020, all the committee members were
independent non-executive Directors and one of whom possesses
appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr.
He Jin Geng, is a qualified accountant and has the relevant financial
experience. Other members were Mr. Yu Hong Gao and Ms. Chen
Yang. None of the Audit Committee members were members of the
former or existing auditors of the Company.

The Audit Committee held 6 meetings during the financial year and
the attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meetings, the Audit Committee reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, the interim and annual reports
of the Group and discussed with the external auditors on auditing,
internal control and financial reporting matters.
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Attendance Record of Audit Committee Meetings (1 January 2020 BRZZESE®BEZHERHR (ZS-SF—
- 31 December 2020) A—RAZE=-Z-FF+=-A=+-—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
R E HE =
Number of audit committee meetings BRXEZEESEEAH 6
Members o=
Independent Non-executive Directors HUHNTES
HE Jin Geng (Chairman) ISk (£/) 6/6 100%
YU Hong Gao B4l 6/6 100%
CHEN Yang l59E3 6/6 100%

CHINAINFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2020, the Corporate Governance Committee
consisted of four members, namely Mr. He Jin Geng, Mr. Yu Hong
Gao and Ms. Chen Yang, all being independent non-executive
Directors and Mr. Xu Xiao Jun, being an executive Director. Mr. Xu
Xiao Jun was the Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for, including
but not limited to, developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and making recommendations
to the Board, reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and Senior Management
of the Company, reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable
to the employees and the Directors of the Company, and reviewing
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

The Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee should be
primarily responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for
each Corporate Governance Committee meeting and ensure that
all members of the Corporate Governance Committee should have
sufficient information in a timely manner to enable effective discussion
at the Corporate Governance Committee meeting. The Chairman
should also brief all members on issues arising at each Corporate
Governance Committee meeting. The Corporate Governance
Committee held one meeting during the financial year and the
attendance of individual member is recorded as below. During the
meeting, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and Senior
Management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report
of this annual report.
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Attendance Record of Corporate Governance Committee Meetings X ERZEEERZHERH (ZS-F
(1 January 2020 — 31 December 2020) F—HA—HEZZE-EF+=-A=+—H)
Attendance
Attendance Rate
R B HFE =&
Number of corporate governance TEERZESTETRRY
committee meetings 1
Members o=
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
HE Jin Geng Al Bk 1/1 100%
YU Hong Gao Bl = 1/1 100%
CHEN Yang 59E3 1/1 100%
Executive Director HITEE
XU Xiao Jun (Chairman) wME (F/E) 1/1 100%

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the audit fees and non-
audit fees payable/paid to the external auditors of the Group were
HK$1,000,000 (2019: HK$1,000,000) and nil (2019: nil) respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on payment of dividends. Provided that the Group has distributable
profits and without affecting the operations of the Group, the Company
may consider to declare and pay dividends to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”). In deciding whether to propose
a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall
take into account, included but not limited to: (i) the general financial
condition of the Group; (ii) the expected working capital requirements
and debt level of the Group; (iii) the actual and future operations
and liquidity position; (iv) the expectations of the Shareholders and
investors and industry practices; (v) any restrictions on payment
of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders; (vi) the
general market conditions; and (vii) any other factors that the Board
deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company. The
Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed by the Board from time to
time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed
or declared in any particular amount for any specific period.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors aim to present the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in accordance with the statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. The Directors ensure the
publication of consolidated financial statements of the Group in
a timely manner that the final and interim results of the Group are
announced within the three months and two months limit respectively
after the end of the relevant periods prescribed under the Listing
Rules.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2020 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
audited by the external auditors HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group and presenting a
balanced, clear and comprehensive assessment of the Group’s
performance and prospects. They are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern.
The Statement of the Auditors about their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group established
and maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis.
The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external
advisor of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function.
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The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to
safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to address
and handle all the significant risks associated with the business of
the Group. The Board would perform annual review on any significant
change of the business environment and establish procedures to
respond to the risks resulted from significant change of business
environment. The risk management and internal control systems are
designed to mitigate the potential losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with the
business of the Group by considering both internal and external
factors and events which include political, economic, technology,
environmental, social and staff. Each of the risks has been assessed
and prioritised based on their relevant impact and occurrence
opportunity. The relevant risk management strategy would be applied
to each type of risks according to the assessment results. Type of risk
management strategy has been listed as follow:

— Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of the
risks;

— Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so as to
avoid the risk;

— Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the risk or
allocate to different location or product or market; and

— Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third party

The internal control systems are designed and implemented to
reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by the Group
and minimise the adverse impact results from the risks. The risk
management and internal control system are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has
engaged an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group. There is no
significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control system
being identified by the external advisory firm for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December 2020,
the risk management and internal control system and procedures
of the Group, covering all material controls including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions
were reasonably effective and adequate.

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2020, the company secretary of the Company, Mr.
Tso Ping Cheong Brian, fulfills the requirement under Rules 3.28 and
3.29 of the Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
Mr. Tso has duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement and he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE
AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Article 57 of the articles of association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
the written requisition of any 2 or more members holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition in aggregate not less than 10 per
cent of such of the paid up capital of the Company as at the date
of the deposit carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the office. If
the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit of
such requisition proceed duly to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result of the
failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be reimbursed
to them by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD ANY
SHAREHOLDERS  ENQUIRIES OR PROPOSALS TO
THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries or proposals to the
Board/Company Secretary by email: hkoffice@china-infrastructure.com,
by fax: (852) 2698 8188, or by mail to Suite 607, 6th Floor, Ocean
Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general
meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continues to pursue a proactive policy of promoting
corporate transparency and communications with the shareholders,
potential investors and investment community through its mandatory
interim and final reports. The Senior Management responsible
for investor relations holds meetings with press reporters and
potential strategic investors to keep them abreast of the Company’s
development.

During the year under review, there were no changes in the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”). An up to date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website. The shareholders may
refer to the Articles of Association for further details of their rights.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders so that they can exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed basis. Besides regular distribution of financial
reports, the Company has a corporate website to foster effective
communications with the shareholders. It is maintained to disseminate
Company’s announcements and presentations, shareholders’
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information
on a timely basis.
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Another dialogue with shareholders is the Company’s general
meetings which provide a useful forum for shareholders to exchange
their views with the Board. The Company shall provide shareholders
with relevant information on the resolution(s) proposed at a general
meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
The information provided shall be reasonably necessary to enable
shareholders to make an informed decision on the proposed
resolution(s). Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for
and on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings.

The Company held totally 1 general meeting during the financial year
and the attendance of individual director is recorded as follows:

Attendance Record of General Meetings (1 January 2020 — 31
December 2020)
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INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE OF
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report is
prepared with accordance to Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) set out in
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. The Board has reviewed and approved the
report and is pleased to present our performance and progress on
environmental, social and governance areas for the year ended 31
December 2020.

The ESG report of the Group has been presented into two subject
areas, Environmental and Social and each subject area will have
various aspects to disclose the relevant policies and the status of
compliance with relevant laws and regulations as addressed by the
ESG Reporting Guide.

The Group understands the importance of ESG report and is
committed to making continuous improvements in corporate social
responsibility into our business in order to better meet the changing
needs of an advancing society. The ESG report of the Group will
present mainly policies, initiatives and performance. The following will
show the ESG issues that are found material for the Group and the
relation to the ESG Reporting Guide:

ESG Guide

RIE HERERMEES

A. Environmental

A B

A.1 Emissions

Al HERY

A.2 Use of resources

A2 BRER

A.3 Environmental and natural resources
A3 BRERXAER
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Relevant ESG issues to the Group
HEASBEMEEANRE  HERELERE

Carbon dioxide emission and waste management
—SEiRBER R EEE Y E

Energy and water consumption
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Measures in reducing environmental impact
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ESG Guide

BRI - HERERRERES

B. Social

B. #®

B.1 Employment

B.1 {Ef&

B.2 Health and safety

B2 REREZZE

B.3 Development and training
B.3 #/ENiEH

B.4 Labour standards

B4 HI%A

B.5 Supply chain management
B.5 HERERE

B.6 Product responsibility
B.6 EmEE

B.7 Anti-corruption

B7 RES

B.8 Community investment

B.8 #HE®RE

THE GROUP

Relevant ESG issues to the Group
HASBEMEEANERE  HERELERE

Labour practices

BITER

Workplace health and safety
TESMERERZ S

Employee development and training
EEEEKEI

Child labour and forced labor

BT REHIST

Supplier management

HEmER

Product safety and quality
EmkrzhEE

Anti-corruption and money laundering
RESRERE

Community involvement

2R

REH

The Group is primarily an investment holding company and its ~ ASBEA—HEBRFREZRZ AR &

investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural
gas business.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group has established environmental policies and has
communicated measurable environmental objectives to employees.
The Group actively encourages staffs to protect the environment
through training, education and communication.

The Group always keeps itself up-to-date on developments in local
legislation and standards for environmental protection. During
the reporting period, the Group did not experience any cases of
noncompliance relating to environmental laws and regulations in PRC
and Hong Kong.
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Emissions

The Group has conducted regular assessments on the air and
greenhouse gas emission, as well as the generation and disposal of
non-hazardous waste. Relevant departments are required to collect
and analyse relevant data and take specific measures to reduce
emissions.

Waste management

The waste management from the Group’s business activities mainly
consists of office paper during the reporting period. No hazardous
waste was produced by the Group during the Reporting period. The
Group has launched a number of waste management programme,
including:

° Recycling of paper materials, printing cartridges and batteries;

° To encourage staff to mitigate paper consumption by duplex-
sided printing and reusing paper printed on one side.

The Group is governed by, and has complied with, the Environmental
Protection of the People’s Republic of China Prevention (& AR
HMBIREREE). The Group does not generate significant air
emission or hazardous waste.

Greenhouse gas [“GHG"] emissions

The major source of carbon dioxide emissions is from the use of
energy. The Group has established various energy saving initiatives
to the carbon footprint.

Our greenhouse gases emissions are indirect, principally resulting
from electricity consumed at the Group’s workplace as well as from
business travel by employees.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the main sources of
the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions were derived from indirect
emission from purchased electricity (“Scope 2”) and other indirect
emissions from electricity used for processing water and business
travel (“Scope 3”). The total greenhouse gases emissions for the
Scope 2 and Scope 3 during the year ended 31 December 2020 were
about 51,198 kg and 1,747 kg, respectively. The emission intensity is
about 416 kg per million HKD revenue.
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Use of resources

Energy and water consumption

With the vision of helping to protect the planet and of incorporating
environmental sustainability into its business functions and processes,
the Group proactively seeks opportunities for increasing operating
efficiency in order to minimize the use of resources.

The resources used by the Group are principally attributed to
electricity and water consumed at its office. We would perform regular
assessments of use of resources.

The Group has adopted green office practices to reduce natural
resource consumption and the impact on the environment. For
instance, offices are equipped teleconference and internet-meeting
practices are encouraged to avoid unnecessary travel.

To achieve higher energy efficiency, the Group implemented the
following key initiatives during the Reporting Period:

o To switch off lights and air-conditioning in the meeting room and
computers at work stations where not in use;

° To select the best configuration for air-conditioning control
programme, based on in-door requirement and out-door
condition.

The total amount of use of energy of the Group was insubstantial
since all energy resources are consumed for the offices’ operation.
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Environmental and natural resources

Measures in reducing environmental impact

The Group mainly involves in trading business and does not involve
in any business that has substantial impact on the environment or
involve in any significant consumption of natural resource.

SOCIAL

The Group believes that one of the key aspects of its success
is the good relationship it maintains with employees. The Group
provides competitive employee benefits and comprehensive training
programmes in order to encourage employees to achieve their
potential and put their abilities to good use.

Employment

The Group provides a number of staff activities to enhance
employees’ sense of belonging and to help create a friendly working
environment.

The Group’s practices and policies with respect to:

° compensation and dismissal;
° recruitment and promotion;

o working hours;

° rest periods;

° equal opportunities;

° diversity;

o anti-discrimination; and

° welfare and other benefits,

which have complied with Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China {##E AR HEFIE4E))%), Labor Contract Law of People’s
Republic of China {F#ZEARLFEL B4 E)E) and other relevant
laws and regulations. During the year, the Group has no non-
compliance with the above law and regulations.

The Group also aims to promote the diversity of workforce, including
in terms of age, gender and nationality, as well as culture of equal
opportunity. The management would frequently review the Group’s
remuneration policy in relation to relevant market standards.
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The Group’s employees work under a 40-hour standard per week
and it maintains a holiday policy and travel policy, as well as annual
vacation leave, compensation leave, maternity leave, personal leave
and sick leave.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of employees have always been the Group’s
priority. The Group has established a set of policies which focused
on keeping a safe and healthy workplace, including the following
requirements:

° Relevant training and knowledge have been provided to
employees in respect to risks associated with the construction.

o The warning wording has been posted into the obvious area
of the construction site to emphasize the health and safety
practice.

With respect to occupational safety management, the Group has
complied with all the corresponding local and Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China (A R EFEIZEDE) of occupational
safety and health. Workplace is equipped with fire and safety
equipment to prevent outbreak of fire accident and the validity of the
fire facilities have been regularly checked.

Occupational health and safety statistics
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Development and Training

The Group has always believed that people development plays
the fundamental role in placing a solid ground for business growth.
The Group aims to regularly upgrade staffs’ professional skills and
knowledge, standards and integrated abilities. The Group also
motivates employees’ job enthusiasm and welcome challenges,
thereby creating greater corporate value and future development.

The Group has various training programmes, internal and external,
to fully develop its workforce. New employees are also provided
with onboarding training to help faster adapt to the operations of the
Group.

Labour Standards

Child labour and forced labour

It is always the Group’s policy to prohibit to employ any staffs who has
under the legal working age for protecting minors.

Insurance and work security packages:

Hong Kong

58

Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) Medical Insurance
wEMAES (BER) BRRRE

Medical Insurance Unemployment Insurance
EE R KE R

Performance Bonus Work-related Injury Insurance
BBRUEAL TERE

Severance Payment/Long Service Payment Childbirth Insurance
EBHERERES EE R

Maternity/Paternity Leave with Pay Housing Accumulation Funds
BEFER HER EEAESR

Employment Compensation Insurance Health and Safety Endowment Insurance
EREERR T 2B EZRRE
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The labour standards may vary in different jurisdictions that the
group has operated and the Group complies with the relevant labour
standards of Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(hiE A RHMBELEERE) for the year ended 31 December 2020.
There is a strict recruitment procedure through Human Resource
Department and upon discovery of any child labour and use of forced
labour, the person will be dismissed immediately and the Board will
discuss and review the problem to prevent it from happening again.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, there is no labour dispute
between the company and its staff.
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Supply Chain Management

The Group has business of trading of construction materials. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has carefully selected
its suppliers for providing the natural gas related products to ensure
the quality of the products. The Group has established policy to
maintain long term relationship with the major supplier.

Product Responsibility

The group complies with various PRC regulations relevant to the
operation of its business in areas, such as health and safety,
advertising, privacy matter relating to its customers and services.

To ensure the health and safety of patrons and employees of the
property in the construction and operation, the building of the Group
would be tested and repaired to ensure the property’s quality.

The Group strictly complies with the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China and requires related parties to do likewise in the
advertising contract.

The Group’s employees are obligated to retain in confidence any
and all information obtained in connection with their employment,
including, but not limited to, trade secrets, client information and other
proprietary information.

Anti-Corruption

The Group upholds a high standard of business integrity throughout
its operations. A system with good moral integrity and anti-corruption
mechanism is the cornerstone for the sustainable and healthy
development of the Group.

With compliance with relevant laws and regulations of Criminal law
of the People’s Republic of China (% AREFEALE) and the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China
#= ANRANE R TEE#HSEA), the Group also has policy to ensure
compliance with guideline on anti-money laundering and counter
terrorist financing. For the year ended 31 December 2020, such
events have never happened in the Group.

Community investment

The Group has contributed its part to build more environmentally
friendly energy infrastructure. The Group would also seek
opportunities to contribute to the social community in the coming
future.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. XU Xiao Jun, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, aged 42, has
been appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 2 August
2012. Mr. Xu has taken up the role as the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company effective from 9 March 2015. Mr. Xu was appointed as
the Chairman of the Company on 31 July 2017. Mr. Xu is the executive
deputy general manager and legal representative of FRZ=MEE}
EE AR A7 (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*).
Mr. Xu served as the deputy general manager and the director of the
office of IR B FIZREHEMIZEHBRRAE (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate
Development Company Limited*) during the periods from 2002 to
2009 and from 2000 to 2002 respectively. Save as being a colleague
of Mr. Ye De Chao, an executive Director of the Company at FR
ZMAREFEAFR AR (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company
Limited*) and formerly at FAREFREHERMZEBR QA (Nanjing
Wanlilai Real Estate Development Company Limited*), Mr. Xu is not
connected with any other directors, senior management or substantial
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Xu is a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. YE De Chao, aged 60, joined the Group as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 17 January 2012.
Mr. Ye was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company since 1
August 2012 and was then redesignated as the Acting Chairman of
the Company on 18 January 2013. Mr. Ye has been appointed as the
Chairman of the Company on 28 February 2013. Mr. Ye has resigned
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company but continued to serve
as the Chairman of the Company effective from 9 March 2015. Mr.
Ye has resigned as the Chairman of the Company but continued to
serve as an executive director of the Company with effect from 31
July 2017. Mr. Ye is also the chairman of EREMARIBEARA
7] (Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property Company Limited*) which is an
associated company of the Company, and the chairman of FRE
FIREHERZE AR A A (Nanjing Wanlilai Real Estate Development
Company Limited*). Mr. Ye has over 20 years of experiences in
business operation and management. Mr. Ye was an electric engineer
of P ARKMBIHIBEA DEHE B REEKS BE NRME (Electric
Technology Department, Nanjing Railway Sub-administration,
Shanghai Railway Bureau, The Ministry of Railways of The People’s
Republic of China*). He obtained an undergraduate diploma from
Southeast University in July 1992 and an EMBA from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business, which is located in Beijing, the People’s
Republic of China, in September 2011. Mr. Ye is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Mr. JI Xu Dong, aged 56, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 2 August 2012. Mr. Ji has studied the
course in International Trade at Nanjing University. Mr. Ji has also
attended the International Financial Investment Programme of
Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Ji is the director and general
manager of R g ELRIRmEEBR AR (Nanjing Vegetable and
Non-staple Food Group Company Limited*). He previously served
as vice general manager of RME B RmEEE AT (Nanjing
Vegetable and Non-staple Food Group*). Mr. Ji has obtained the
independent director authentication from the Shanghai National
Accounting Institute. Mr. Ji is a director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, no executive Directors of the Company
have held any other directorships in listed public companies in
the last three years and none of them are connected with any
other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and any executive Director. There is no specific term in respect of
their respective appointment, but subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company. The executive Directors are not entitled to director’s
fee but will be entitled to discretionary bonus to be decided by the
Board based on their contributions, the Company’s annual business
performance and the recommendation given by the Remuneration
Committee of the Board. Details of directors’ remuneration in 2019 are
set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. HE Jin Geng, aged 51, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. He
holds a Doctorate Degree in Politics and Economics from Nanjing
University. Mr. He currently serves as the general manager of F5R/
BEEIEAEIE AR AT (Nanjing South Hospital Medical Investment
Management Company Limited*). He previously served as a director
and president of R B Z[%{HH PR 2 A (Nanjing Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd*) and as secretary of ¥ T4& =PI @EZ (Youth League
of Liuao District of Sanmen County of Zhejiang Province*), and also
served different posts in ERINEREHERMGBR AR (Nanjing Xin
Gang High-Tech Co., Ltd*), including deputy director of the office,
secretary of the board of directors and deputy general manager.
Mr. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified

Accountants.

Mr. YU Hong Gao, aged 58, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 August 2012. Mr. Yu
graduated from Nanjing University of Science and Technology
and holds a Doctorate Degree. Mr. Yu previously served as
deputy general manager of the Department of Entrusted Assets
Management, general manager of Asset Management Department
and general manager of Securities Investment Department of #EZz
BEIMD AR AT (Huatai Securities Co., Ltd.*), deputy manager of
the Investment Department of JT# & B EE S F TR R E QR
(Jiangsu High-Tech Capital Venture Co., Ltd. of the Department of
Finance of Jiangsu Province*), deputy head of F{Z$R1TEI RO 1TH
FasZ1T (Chengxi Sub-branch of China Citic Bank Nanjing Branch*),
deputy general manager of Securities Investment Head Office and
general manager of Assets Management Head Office of {2255/
AR A A (Xin Tai Securities Co., Ltd.*).
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Ms. CHEN Yang, aged 47, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 5 September 2014. Ms.
Chen graduated from Southeast University and holds a master
degree. Ms. Chen currently serves as deputy general manager of
Nanjing Yulan Road Branch of Dongguan Securities Co., Ltd.* (5¢
AFAAREE R RIMER M5 % %50). She previously served as
sales director of Nanjing Hongwu South Road Branch of Dongxing
Securities Co., Ltd.* (B EHEFAR 15 F R A &) 5 7 AL E B B AE 5 32 56),
marketing manager of Nanjing Hanzhong Road Branch of Xiangcai
Securities Co., Ltd.* (HEIEAERRD AR AR A ER KA 2L % 56)
and customer relationship manager of Nanjing Pacific South Road
Branch of Guotai Junan Securities Co., Ltd.* (FIZRE LZiF AN AR
REIFERA T EEIEFE %)

Save as disclosed above, no independent non-executive Director
of the Company has held any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years or is otherwise connected with
any other directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

There is currently no director service contract between the Company
and each of the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
There is no specific term in respect of their respective appointment,
but subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meetings of the Company. Mr. He, Mr. Yu and
Ms. Chen received director’s fee of HK$120,000, HK$120,000 and
HK$120,000, respectively, in 2020.

* The English translation of the Chinese name(s), where indicated, is
included for information purpose only, and should not be regarded as
the official English name(s) of such Chinese name(s).
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The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is primarily an investment holding company and its
investment portfolio includes (i) property investments; and (ii) natural
gas businesses.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and the
probable future business development of the Group are set out in
the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. A discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the year and the
financial key performance indicators is set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group. In addition, the environmental policies and performance,
compliance with relevant laws and regulations and the Group’s
relationship with its employees are disclosed in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Business Risks

The Group’s business risk factors include changes in the overall
market conditions, downward pressure on China’s economy and
change of government policies in China. The Board is responsible for
overall business management and review of major business decisions
involving disclosure of significant risks from time to time.

Financial Risks

The Group has adopted a series of financial risk management policies
to manage its liquidity risk, credit term allocation risk, financing
structure risk, interest rate risk and exchange rate risk. The Board
also reviews the Group’s management accounts, capital structure and
key operational data on a monthly basis.
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Compliance Risks

The Board takes effective measures to ensure compliance of the
Company with the laws, regulations and rules. The Company has
engaged professional consultants and advisors to keep the Company
updated on the latest changes in the regulatory environment,
including legal, financial, environmental and operational development.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers taken together accounted for
approximately 35% and 98% respectively of the Group’s total revenue
for the year.

The aggregate cost of sales attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and five largest suppliers taken together accounted for
approximately 31% and 100% respectively of the Group’s total cost of
sales for the year.

Save otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year have the
Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had any interest in these major customers
and suppliers.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 166 of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 60 to 61 of this annual report.

The state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2020 are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 62 to 63 of
this annual report.

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of significant changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in share capital of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company'’s listed shares during the year ended
31 December 2020.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Particulars of interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2020
are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits scheme of the Group are set out in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and has complied throughout the year with the Corporate
Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”), except for the deviation of code provisions A.2.1 and
A4,

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ye De Chao

Mr. Ji Xu Dong

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. He Jin Geng

Mr. Yu Hong Gao

Ms. Chen Yang
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In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Ji Xu Dong and Mr. He Jin Geng shall retire from the
Board at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The term of office of each non-executive Director is the period up
to his/her retirement by rotation in accordance with the Company'’s
articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors had any existing or propose service contract
with the Company or any member of the Group which is not expiring
or terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), to
be entered in the register referred to therein; or (b) were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein; or (c) were required, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange were as follows:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES OF
HK$0.05 EACH ["SHARES”) OF THE COMPANY

R ]I EH1E 0.05 8 7T.2
ZER ([R17]) 28

Number of Shares held

BREZRHEAE
% to the issued
Personal Corporate share capital of
Name of Director Interests Interests Total the Company
RN
BBRITRAE
EEnA EARERR NGIEE B Bt (%)
Mr. Ye De Chao E b — 1,189,290,512  1,189,290,512 27.85
(Note)
(BfaE)
Mr. Ji Xu Dong TR AL 6,000 6,000 0.00014

Note: These Shares were held by Legendary Base International Limited, a
company which was wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De Chao. Hence, he was
deemed to have a beneficial interest in all these Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associate corporation (within the meaning of
the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including any interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Mizr: ZEROBERBEEZEREZ
Legendary Base International Limited ¥
BBt HERAEBEMAEZERNZ

B AL 4dE Nl
B

R wEEN R_FE_FF+ A
=t—B EFHARFASZSTRAELE
RARBSHEAARE LR (ERRBHFK
HERE) 2kt - HERDXEFTHEE
RIEE SR PEROIEXVEE7RE8D
BAME AR B MBS AT AR SORE
(BRERIEEZLIEGRIIN BRGNS
WEERRBER 2 EAESELRR) 3
RIBRE 77 S B E (R PI5E 352 15 - 785 A% ik
IRt & e 2 TR R - IRE L
MARRAIM S0 EHBEITAERETE
HRPNFETRAMG AR R MBI
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2008
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The purposes of the Share Option
Scheme are to enable the Group and its Invested Entities (any
entity in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest)
to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible Persons and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group or Invested Entities, to
recognise the contributions of the Eligible Persons to the growth of
the Group or Invested Entities by rewarding them with opportunities
to obtain ownership interest in the Company and to motivate and give
incentives to these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the
long term success and prosperity of the Group or Invested Entities.
Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Board may invite any
Eligible Person including any director and employee of the Company
to take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company. The Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years.
The Share Option Scheme expired on 11 July 2018. No new share
option scheme had been adopted by the Company as at the date of
this report.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short
position in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:
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) AY A
LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY SHARES REBRZIE
% to the issued
Number of  share capital of
Name of shareholder Capacity Shares the Company
ERNE|
2RITRA
RREHE BEEH REOEE B2 (%)
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. (Note 1) Interests of controlled 1,189,290,512 27.85
FRESIKEFGRETAR (FIFE1) corporation
SR LB R
China Construction Bank Corporation (Note 2) Interests of controlled 1,189,290,512 27.85
REIRIRTTIRMBR AR (ME2) corporation
SR LB R
Legendary Base International Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 1,189,290,512 27.85
Legendary Base International Limited (Bf{3£3) ERERA
Expert Ever Limited (Note 4) Beneficial owner 383,956,000 8.99
Expert Ever Limited (FfizE4) BE=EBA
Zhang Xiaojun (Note 4) Interests of controlled 383,956,000 8.99

RBEE (HEE4)

Notes:

corporation
R EE R

(1)  China Construction Bank Corporation was owned as to 57.26% by

Central Huijin Investment Ltd..

(2)  According to the disclosure of interest form filed by China Construction
Bank Corporation, China Construction Bank Corporation reported
interests because Prosper Talent Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Construction Bank Corporation, was reported to
have direct interests in the Shares. So far as the Company was aware
of, Prosper Talent Limited was a person having a security interest in the

Shares under a share pledge.

(3) Legendary Base International Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. Ye De
Chao, who is a director of both the Company and Legendary Base

International Limited.

(4)  Expert Ever Limited was wholly-owned by Zhang Xiaojun.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, no person (other

than Directors or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or a

short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336

of the SFO.

(1) FEREREBITRODAERAGAFRESE
BERETARIESS7.26% IXHE -

(2) REPHERZETROBRARER ZE
R BERE  PEERRITROBERAAF]
FA 3} 4% 25 79 (2] BR $R Prosper Talent Limited
(BFRBREZBTROBERABZEEZEEE
MEAE) ARG ZEEER - BLAAR]
Fff 4 - Prosper Talent Limited /& % 17 1 ##
HTHEROERER AL -

(3) Legendary Base International Limited
X A 7] FKlegendary Base International

Limited E R X EBEETENER -
(4) Expert Ever Limited HRBEZE 2B HH -

BEXHEEEIN RZZE=_FTF+=A
=+—8 #EAL (TTEEEEHAR
AEREITBAR) HATHRAR RIREFH
HF RS KGIE I IEATFE ZERLMA
2 WD MR D 2 i SUA R ©

FEEZREERAF
—ER-TFEER
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and Senior Management of the
Group are set out on pages 36 to 39 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Except for the transactions as disclosed in notes 7 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements, no other contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited (“Keen
Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group), Mr. Ye De Chao (an
Executive Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company),
Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr. Lee Kai Choi and Forward
Investment (PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”) had
entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
in relation to the subscription of 40% equity interests in Forward
Investment by Keen Gate (the “Subscription”) at a consideration
of HK$300 million (the “Consideration”). The Subscription was
completed on 10 December 2012. Pursuant to the Subscription
Agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao, Modern Admission Group Limited
and Mr. Lee Kai Choi (collectively, the “Guarantors”) jointly and
severally undertake to Keen Gate that the return to Keen Gate,
being the dividend receivable from the Group’s equity interests in
Forward Investment, shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration
per annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below such
threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate on a dollar-
for-dollar basis (the “Return Undertaking”) in cash on or before 15
May of each calendar year.
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The Return Undertaking of approximately HK$36,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was paid by the Guarantors on 15 May
2020. In the opinion of the independent non-executive Directors (the
“INEDs”) of the Company, the Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations
under the guarantee for the year ended 31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, Forward Investment suffered
a loss and therefore would not be able to pay any dividends to
its shareholders, including Keen Gate. The Return Undertaking
for the year ended 31 December 2020 would be approximately
HK$36,000,000. The Guarantors shall compensate Keen Gate the
amount of approximately HK$36,000,000 on or before 15 May 2021.

As at the date of this annual report, the Guarantors have not
yet fulfilled their obligations under the guarantee by paying the
compensation of approximately HK$36,000,000 to Keen Gate.
Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the Guarantors shall
fulfill their obligations on or before 15 May 2021. The Directors of
the Company will closely monitor the status of the fulfilment of the
Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return Undertaking and will
disclose to the public as when the Guarantors have fulfilled their
obligations or when the Guarantors fail to fulfill their obligations on or
before 15 May 2021 by publication of an announcement.

The INEDs of the Company had been informed that Forward
Investment suffered a loss and would not be able to pay any
dividends to Keen Gate for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The INEDs of the Company will closely monitor the status of the
fulfilment of the Guarantors’ obligations regarding the Return
Undertaking and will provide an opinion (the “INED Opinion”) on
whether the Guarantors had fulfilled their obligations under the
guarantee by compensating Keen Gate the amount of approximately
HK$36,000,000 on or before 15 May 2021 or not. The INED Opinion
will be disclosed in the Company’s next published annual report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) presently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors. The Audit
Committee has reviewed with the management and the Company’s
external auditors the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and financial
reporting process including the review of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
prescribed amount of public float during the year and up to the date
of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

On 2 January 2020, Centurion ZD CPA Limited resigned as the
auditors of the Company. Crowe (HK) CPA Limited had been
appointed as the auditors of the Company with effect from 20 January
2020 to fill the casual vacancy. On 19 March 2020, Crowe (HK)
CPA Limited resigned as the auditors of the Company. The Audit
Committee recommended to appoint HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited with effect from 19 March 2020 to fill the casual vacancy so
arising.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the
auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Xu Xiao Jun
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT

B A2 EN RS

B &<t F a5 A R G
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 60 to 165,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group at
31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$348,497,000. In addition, the Group had interest-bearing
borrowings of approximately HK$115,000,000 which were expired
while its cash and bank balances was approximately HK$18,491,000
as at 31 December 2020. These conditions indicate a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current year. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to
the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going
Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to
be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BREREE
Valuation of investment properties

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
B2 A M BEREMTE12 -

At 31 December 2020, the Group has investment
properties with carrying amount of approximately
HK$52,086,000.
R-E-ZEF+-_A=+—8"
H{E#%)52,086,000,8 7T ©

BEEEREMEZK

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties is
determined by adopting the valuation techniques with
significant unobservable inputs, assumptions of market
conditions and judgements. The Group also engaged
an independent qualified professional firm of valuers
to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
techniques.
EEEREVMEZ A TEDNRBRHETNEEE 895
NRERTABREASE  mARKLAE - BE5EE
TN & BRI ERM B S 1EARY R EE S @
B770% °

Due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the
significant assumptions and judgements involved in the
valuation, valuation of investment properties is identified
as a key audit matter.

B EY KA T EABREZZ E ZRIRANEREBR
KA - EFBREMEGEEERT RERERSEE -

FRREREE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE
RENMEMLE

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
determination of the valuation of investment properties
included:

EEAHEEERERAMELEZERREFBE

e evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuers;

o FHAMEMMERE - e REFEIN

e assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts;

e BERMUMEBTENTHIERARMANEESR
K aHEPIEABEMEZERROVEE ML

e challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry; and

o MERMBERBMITRNTH HEREBRNESE
MIREERE - &

e checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

o HHEIRE AT I A BUR A SERE I ELARRE I -

We found the management’s judgements and estimates
used in determining the fair value of investment properties
was supportable by available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRELER

Impairment assessment on construction in progress
under property, plant and equipment

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

2R A M RARMEE13

At 31 December 2020, the Group has construction in
progress under property, plant and equipment with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$110,963,000.
RZZBZZEF+A=+—1H  EBESEDX BEX
FAEIE NMERIE 2 BREEA) 110,963,0008 7T ©

The recoverable amount of construction in progress
is determined by reference to fair value less costs of
disposal. The fair value of the construction in progress
is determined by adopting the valuation techniques with
significant unobservable inputs, assumptions of market
conditions and judgements. The Group also engaged
an independent qualified professional firm of valuers
to establish and determine the appropriate valuation

techniqgues.
FERTIENAIWESEIIEAFERDEXNAEE - &£
BIRZ A TEDRABBETEEE B9 FRERT
ABRBASE mARKKAE - EX£ETERS

VABREXMLEMAR BRI REESENGER
%°

Impairment loss of approximately HK$87,937,000 was
recognised in respect of construction in progress during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

HZE ZE+_A=+—HILFE "
wu\/ﬁfﬁgﬂ,@\%ﬁ 87,937,000 87T °

TR TIRME

Due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the
significant assumptions and judgements involved in the
valuation, impairment assessment on construction in
progress under property, plant and equipment is identified
as a key audit matter.

HINMEES AT TAME R F2RRARERRR
NHE - EFHME - BEMRBETEZIRZRBE
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRELSE

Y% BERRBEETERIR ZRENG

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment on construction in progress under
property plant and equipment included:

ERBEEENRYE  BELRBETEZTIREZM
TEJH&“W%*%EF 2EEE

e evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuers;

o HAMLERMNERE - e REEIE

e assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using our
valuation experts

. ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ”%mT%iﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁg

 FHEPTEAB AN T ZERBOEE ML

e challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the business and
industry; and

. ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%%?% HERRRNEIE
(E2 =g

e checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

RS A S A BUR B ERE 1 ERARRRE -

We found the management’s judgements and estimates
used in impairment assessment of construction in
progress was supportable by available evidence.

BERS - R TIZARE R PSR A /0 2 HE 2 # E 2
RS ERAERSS -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

AREZER

Recoverability of carrying amounts of interests in
associates

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
2R EMmERWMTE 16 -

At 31 December 2020, the Group has interests in
associates with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$167,109,000.
N_Z_EF+-_A=+—H"
W BREE#) 167,109,000 T ©

E\K.EAH /N ﬂz

Interests in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associates, less
any impairment.
#%%@TZ%%EW$F%§%%#%%WWﬁ'
REBRELHFABRUER EEEEBREQFZIER
Eﬁiﬁwﬁ(mﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ

The Group is required to assess whether there is any
indication that the carrying amounts of interests in
associates may be impaired at the end of the reporting
period.
associates was considered to be necessary by the
management as at 31 December 2020.
EEEANMENRTHES ﬁH%%%%%Qﬂz%
WAREERGEERE - BLtMs  RZT_TF+_H
=+—B ERERRTEUSEUNBE A2 ERIE
HORE

In this regard, no impairment of interests in

Due to the significance of the Group’s interests in
associates in the context of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, recoverability of carrying amounts of
interests in associates is identified as a key audit matter.
mR SREERBEARZEZE BEEEGESVBE®
KTPEABAER EESMANRBMERTZ RENEREE
AU Bl RS AR R IE o

FRREREE @

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEERNMEERRERSEE

R D T 2 R 50 BV R E B 7] W =0 1

Our audit procedures in relation to the management'’s
impairment assessment on interests in associates

included:
EEREEEENHNBE AR ERNEREAET KRE
MREIZIEF B

e assessing the appropriateness of the management’s
accounting for interests in associates-

o HEEEUNMEARZERETENREZE
B

e understanding the management’s process for
identifying the existence of impairment indicators in
respect of the interests in associates; and

s THEEEWMTHFAENBEARRZERSE B
BIEFENBE &

e assessing the reasonableness of the recoverable
amount of the associates and obtaining an
understanding from the management of their financial
position and future prospects.

o FIAMERFAWESENSEN  WRERET
R H SO MARIRATR ©

We found the management’s assessment of the
recoverability of carrying amounts of interests in associates
was supportable by available evidence.

EERR BEEBHRBEAR ZERNEREEN KD
TS RIIR B BRI

FEEZREERAF
—ER-TFEER
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the content of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

N
ﬁ%

YET R FE AR S T IR
AENEE

A\
I

/

-

BEENER  RYBRESEMBEHRERES T
T RO RRRF X8R BR 1 38 B BB A 88 SR BR A
RS ERE YHABREEEENZ
BEDRE - BEER BT ((FREE) &
T U TMEEMAR - BEFTRUAREZA
REAEFREMALTE FSFAREEE - SR
EBRBKFHRE - BIERERRBREEZ
BERBEITHBRRAR —BEAHREAFE

AREIXIR o SHARBRIM A A ERRF S #E R 5
A - fin S TR TR B T 8H AR R AL 1 Sk FE AR AR
KA B FRA MWK EREMED
AR - Rl B RV SE R BRI Al BAR EE
* o

EEREBEFEZBERMETERNIEZ
— & ﬁﬁ%%#‘“‘éﬁ E%M%Vﬂ&qﬂ?@
FREEEEE -
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continuea)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Yu Chi Fat.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yu Chi Fat
Practising Certificate Number: P05467

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021

ftHEBRZZBEERBNEET - FERED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
melmE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 7 —FE - FF+=-A=+—HIL F/E

2020 2019
—E-ZF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
LiEs3 FET FAET

Revenue Wz 4 127,414 56,935
Cost of sales SHEMA (124,583) (55,030)
Gross profit EF 2,831 1,905
Other income HAb g A 5 36,695 37,469
Loss arising on change in fair value WEWMERNTEZEESHEL

of investment properties ki 12 (77,892) (2,266)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  BL¥E - BE LR EER

of property, plant and equipment ZR(EEE (87,937) —
Impairment loss recognised in respect  BTEHEEEEREA T

of financial assets under expected JERMEEER

credit losses model ZR(EEE (40,723) —
Share of results of associates FEIREEE N T 2 A 16 (144,569) (10,276)
General and administrative expenses —RRITBAX (32,082) (34,058)
Loss from operations REEIR (343,677) (7,226)
Finance costs B TSR AR 6(a) (12,237) (23,414)
Loss before taxation Rri AT 518 6 (355,914) (30,640)
Income tax credit FriSfiE e 9 7417 566
Loss for the year FAEE (348,497) (30,074)
Attributable to: FEAG

— Owners of the Company — RRARIEAA (278,857) (28,909)

— Non-controlling interests — AR AR R A (69,640) (1,165)
Loss for the year FREE (348,497) (30,074)
Loss per share sERER 11

Basic BN (6.53) cents il (0.68) centsll

Diluted BE (6.53) cents il (0.68) cents il

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated M 2 M B Fir 6 MERE 2 —5H 5
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
reBmkEMARERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 7 —FE - FF+=-A=+—HIL F/E

2020 2019

k- 3 —T-hEF

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
LiEs3 THET FET

Loss for the year FREE (348,497) (30,074)

Other comprehensive income/(loss): Eﬂtéﬁl&ﬁ“ﬁ/(ﬁiﬁ) :

ltems that may be reclassified to EEE AN
profit or loss TE@ZIE B
Net translation differences on HMEGINETS 2 FEH
foreign operations ERFE 22,642 (15,591)
Share of other comprehensive FEMREE R A EA
income of associates ZHEKE
— Exchange reserve — [ R 16 11,360 (5,862)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) EREME2EWE ~ (FE) -

for the year, net of tax Bz 34,002 (21,453)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRZEEEERE (314,495) (51,527)
Attributable to: BEAE :

— Owners of the Company — AR EHE A (249,289) (49,104)

— Non-controlling interests — FEIE R AR SR AR (65,206) (2,423)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAZEEIEHALE (314,495) (51,527)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated  Fi#s 2 izF At F4ra MRz —HD o
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 31 December 2020 R—E_—ZEF+_H=41—H

2020 2019
—E-ZF —NEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k=3 FBT FiET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEREBEE
Investment properties HEME 12 52,086 59,227
Property, plant and equipment e e ] 13 110,981 120,064
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 2,286 2,578
Goodwill (EES 15 — —
Interests in associates PN AN W 16 167,109 300,318
Prepayment TERFIR 19 — 133,441
332,462 615,628
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Trade receivables FEWE F R 18 117,752 18,112
Other receivables, deposits HAbEWFRIE « e &
and prepayment TERTFRIE 19 229,342 393,653
Cash and bank balances B MIRTT4ER 20 18,491 2,024
365,585 413,789
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables BB SRR 21 (15,579) (29,877)
Accruals and other payables FEETE A R E AT UE 22 (75,183) (60,572)
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 23 (115,000) (125,000)
Lease liabilities HEaE 24 (327) (297)
Tax payables FERTFEIR (6,046) (5,568)
(212,135) (221,314)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFRE 153,450 192,475
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBER
LIABILITIES 485,912 808,103
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R BRI R

At 31 December 2020 R —FE —ZFF+—H=+—H

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE
HERE
EREBIARE

RATRER ARG ERBE

FERRRER

REEEE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on
31 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Xu Xiao Jun
E N 3
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

2020 2019

—EEH —E-NF

Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5T FH&T BT
24 (296) (623)
25 — (7,369)
(296) (7,992)

485,616 800,111

27(a) 213,496 213,496
269,591 518,880

483,087 732,376

2,529 67,735

485,616 800,111

RoB-—F=A=—AEEFEIER
BARTIR - BA THALHRRE SRS

Ye De Chao
¥EE

Director

EF

MisZ R FHRaPHRR 2 —#D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AEEDEER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 7 —FE - FF+=-A=+—HIL F/E

64

Attributable to owners of the Company

FRTRRAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium (note 1) (note 2) reserve losses Total interests equity
BARE EAEORE FER
i RHEE (HsE1) (H&t2) ERGE 2iTER a# hREs BRiAE
HK§000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
Thn TR Thn TR TEn T TEn Tén Tin
At 1 January 2019 R=F-nE-f-A 2134% 756,049 72 69 (56,278) (131,928) 781,480 70,158 851,638
Exchange differences on BERINBLRA
translation of financial CIfsE. v
statements of overseas EiER
subsidiaries - - - - (14333) - (14333) (1.258) (15591)
Share of other comprehensive FEBEAT
loss of associates At2EES - - - - (5,862) - (5,862) - (5,862)
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (28,90) (28,909) (1,165) (30,074)
Total comprenensive ERRENG/ (FR) B
income/(loss) for the year - — - — (20,195) (28,909) (49,104) (2423) (51,627)
At 31 December 2019 RZF-NE+ZA=1-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 (76,473) (160,837 732,376 67,735 800,111

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

o A EE 3L 45
REERBER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATREAEL
Capital
Capital  redemption Non-
Share Share reserve reserve  Exchange  Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium (note 1) (note 2) reserve losses Total interests equity
ERGE EARDRE FER
kx RGEE (1) (i2) ERGE 2iTER a# hREs BRiAE
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Thn Tin Thn Tén TEn Tén TEn Tén Tin
At 1 January 2020 WZ5-%5-F-H 213,496 756,049 72 69 (76,473) (160,837) 732,376 67,735 800,111
Exchange differences on BERINBLRA
translation of financial CIf5E. v
statements of overseas EiER
subsidiaries - - - - 18,208 - 18,208 4434 22,642
Share of other comprenensive FEBEAT
income of associates Ath2EkE - - - - 11,360 - 11,360 - 11,360
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (78857)  (278,857) (69,640)  (348,497)
Total comprenensive ERRENG/ (FR) B
income/(loss) for the year - - - - 29,568 (278,857) (249,289) (65,206) (314,495)
At 31 December 2020 REZ-FEF-F=1-H 213,496 756,049 7 69 (46,905) (439,694) 483,087 2,529 485,616
Notes: BisE -
1. The capital reserve of the Group represents the excessive injection of REBEARAFBEMNBAREMERZE

the registered capital of a subsidiary.

2. Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of shares
repurchased out of distributable profit.

BiE -

BRIE B 1 A T 0 os A s B it 2

MHE -

TEHREZREARLT
“ERIERFFR

65



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

nv-F IE%/)ILE%‘%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 &2 —

FoFFEF_A=F—HUFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:

Amortisation and depreciation of
property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

Interest income

Finance costs

Loss arising on change in fair value
of investment properties

Impairment loss recognised in respect

of property, plant and equipment

Impairment loss recognised in respect
of financial assets under expected

credit losses model
Share of results of associates

Operating profit before changes
in working capital
Decrease/(increase) in trade and
other receivables, deposits
and prepayment

Increase in trade
and other payables

Net cash generated from/(used in)
from operating activities

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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2020 2019
—E-ZF —NEF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
B aE FExT FHET
R
BRI A& R (355,914) (30,640)
HTOIEL REE
M - BB RRE
AR fEREEE
HIERTE 406 148
FEMA (307) (1,469)
BTSN 12,237 23,414
REMENFER
EEZEE 77,892 2,266
B - BB REEER
ZR(EEE 87,937 —
HIEEEEBELT
e BB ERER
ZRMEEE 40,723 —
FEMLEE = R A2 %A 144,569 10,276
KEESBEAT
2R &R 7,543 3,995
FEWE SR &
HEKHRIE - Hek
B RIER LD, (1) 15,353 (329,622)
FEH B SZERN R EL A RS
FIEIE AN 4,892 21,695
REEKELE (FTA) ReFE
27,788 (303,932)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n\/-.]_\ Iﬁﬁ/)lbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B2 = F =L F+=—A=+—HIF/E

Notes
LiEs3
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXHK
Interest received 2UFE
Net cash generated from/(used in) BREEKELE  (FTA)
investing activities ZHE&FHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BE X
(Repayment to)/advance from (RMEZREEERE)
substantial shareholder FERFIAENKIA
Repayment of secured loans EEEHEHEN
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHERR
Interest paid BRFE
Net cash used in RE KA
financing activities ZH&FE
Net increase/(decrease) incashand HE&RBEEZEY
cash equivalents #wi, CRd) B8
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SMNESTE &R 8%} 2 5728
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning RFEVZ2IRE R
of year ReEED 20
Cash and cash equivalents attheend REXRZEERRESEEY
of year 20

2020 2019
—ECEF —hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FH&T BT
307 1,469
307 (133,846)
(3,870) 1,670
(10,000) (109,000)
(368) (61)
(2,084) —
(16,322) (107,391)
11,773 (545,169)
4,694 (5,921)
2,024 553,114
18,491 2,024

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated MIHS 2 st Bt 4 8 stk 2 — 289

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e IR ERAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 7 —FE - FF+=-A=+—HIL F/E

68

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Infrastructure Investment Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 June 1992 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the Company are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office of
the Company in the Cayman Islands is The R&H Trust Co.
Ltd., Windward 1, Regatta Office Park, West Bay Road, Grand
Cayman, Cayman Islands. The address of the registered office
and the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong is Suite 607, 6/F., Ocean Centre, 5 Canton Road, Tsim Sha
Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s immediate holding
company is Legendary Base International Limited and the
ultimate controlling party is Mr. Ye De Chao, who is a director of
the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries (together with the Company, the
“Group”) are described in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in the nearest thousand (HK$'000), unless otherwise
stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(A)

(B)

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (*“HKFRSs”), which is
a collective term that include all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CQ”). These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material
if such information is reasonably expected to influence
decisions made by primary users.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for the investment
properties that are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(B] BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs
is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods,
the valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique equals
the transaction price.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(B] BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(C] GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$348,497,000. In addition, the Group had interest-
bearing borrowings of approximately HK$115,000,000
which were expired while its cash and bank balances was
approximately HK$18,491,000 as at 31 December 2020.

The above events or conditions may cast significant doubt
on the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern
and, therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of
business. The directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of financing in assessing
whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources
to continue as a going concern. Certain measures have
been taken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve the Group’s financial position which include, but
are not limited to, the following:

(i)  The Group will apply stringent cost control in
administrative expenses and capital expenditures;

(i) A substantial shareholder of the Company has
agreed to provide financial support for the continuing
operation of the Group;

(i)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group has obtained consent from the relevant lender
not to demand for immediate repayment of such
borrowings; and

(iv) Other operation plan to mitigate the liquidity
problem.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(C]

(D)

GOING CONCERN (Continued)

However, the appropriateness of the going concern basis
of accounting is dependent on the assumption that (i)
the management of the Group will be able to achieve its
plans and measures as described above; (ii) the Group
is able to obtain continuous external financial support
from substantial shareholder; (iii) the Group will be able
to improve its business operations; (iv) the Group is able
to successfully negotiate with the lender in relation to
the extension of interest-bearing borrowing and related
interest; and (v) the Group is able to generate sufficient
cash flow and implement exercises to control costs.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to reduce
the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their realisable
values, to provide for financial liabilities which might
arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these adjustments have not
been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and
other parties) are considered.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(D) SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances and transactions and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Group, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed
any additional terms with the holders of those interests
which would result in the Group as a whole having a
contractual obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For each
business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable
assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately
from equity attributable to owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and no
gain or loss is recognised.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(D] SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

(E)

INTERESTS (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at
fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate,
the cost on initial recognition of an interest in an associate
or a joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(E) INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

When the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds
the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group'’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of an associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over
the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(E)

(F)

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with its associate, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a goods or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(F] REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction on the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes

the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

— the Group’s performance creates or enhances

an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset

with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment to performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[F] REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) (F] Yz EE (w)

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation to
provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group
is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

[F] REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued) (F] Kzt (&)

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

Sales of construction materials

The Group sell construction materials directly to
customers.

Revenue from sales of construction materials are
recognised at a point in time when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been

AEBRAERHRRNEZFHE
LN
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AEBEERES HEREH
B o
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ERNREHER  IEYEL
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delivered to the specify location.

The normal credit term is up to 30 days upon delivery. FREERARKXEEIOKN -

Property management fee income YHEEEENA

BEBESKIGRR  MEEBEBRA
R REEREHS MBI THEL
B -MEBRBBWALESEEE
E& L HAAHERR o

Under the terms of the contract, property management
fee income is recognised as a performance obligation
satisfied over time. The property management fee income
are recognised throughout the respective contract period.
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(Continued)

(G] LEASES (G) #HE

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components, including contract
for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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(Continued)

(G) LEASES (Continued) (G] HE #)

AEBER/RFEEA (@)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Short-term lease and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases please specify classes, e.g. motor
vehicles/machinery and equipment, if no applying to all
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease

CHHERIBEEEE

AEBEHHEYBMGERET S
T EASATETESBEEE
BOEHERMAREHHEHE®RH
% HMHEEEEENHER
ARR#HE - EHEEREEE
BEMNHEENFNEMAERE

BRESI SRR EEER R

and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense oo

of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases

on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets EAREEE

EREEENKARE

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

EFEHERENESR

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the o  ARMBHRZRIELRE
commencement date, less any lease incentives A FE &~ R AOBR (] 2 U AR
received; EEBE:

e anyinitial direct costs incurred by the Group; and o AEEEAMNTEMVIGERE

A &
e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in o  AEENFREFBHEBEE

ZE - BRABEEMTSHT
SERBREEZHENR
the underlying asset to the condition required by the IR NG PR E B0 R
terms and conditions of the lease. FTEERINA o

dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
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(Continued)

[G) LEASES (Continued) (G] HE #)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Except for those that are classified as investment
properties and measured under fair value model, right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and initially measured at
fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.
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(Continued)
(G] LEASES (Continued) (G] #HE (#)

The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBEBEBEA (&)

Lease liabilities (Continued) HEERE (&)

The lease payments include: HENZBE

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed e EEMNK(BEBEREENR
payments) less any lease incentives receivable; ) BAREREEES

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or o HUARIBE AR #HE
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at BN RSB ERE
the commencement date; S F EHETTHIRET 2

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group o FIREEERTEHREE
under residual value guarantees; & THFRIR

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group e HAEERTHRmAKEITE
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and MEERITEE &

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the o ARIFHEEmMIMMIIR
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to (W EERMRAEEIETT
terminate the lease. FaR I ETAERE) -

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item KEBERERE TR R AR E

on the consolidated statement of financial position. ER8EZYABELIER °

The Group as a lessor AEBEEREHEA

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on ERE 2 e WA Ty RE@ME

a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. HA B SRR RER o N & HE

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an KREHERS|I Bz VI X EREKA

operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the TNEHEEE REE - Wik

leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over AL B RAER - ERATE

the lease term except for investment properties measured EAET EMIRE M ZERIN o

under fair value model.
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(Continued)

(H) FOREIGN CURRENCIES (H) FME
In preparing the financial statements of each individual RERSENEBREE V%R
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the R AZERBZNEEE AN
entity’s functional currency are recognised at the rates ZEBETIRGTIIERR S H
of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. B 7 ME R o RIREHR - B
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items INEEBECERIBEE DiRZAZ
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the ERFHIRE - UHINEEBEER
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried FEARZIEEKIER HILEE
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are NEERHZEREHRE - &
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the 7|“‘#1@5?§Eﬁ)?$§+§23|5§ﬁ5155
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are BASENRE

measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised BE¥IERCELERTELEH
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for 2B RER - T EEERE
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from FERTBINETS c BEHETHE 2B
or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is i MAMEHEIEEXTK
neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part AlREEE (.lﬁlﬁ%ﬁ@%%fﬁ‘@
of the net investment in the foreign operation), which are KEZ—F5)  WHREMEE
recognised initially in other comprehensive income and Wz N )8R TR &E/\Eﬁfﬁ’ﬁ%lﬁ
reclassified from equity to profit or loss on repayment of BRtETEN S EEER

the monetary items.

EERREERAT
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(Continued)

[H) FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued) [H] SPE )

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange
rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a foreign
operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences is re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly
controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(H) FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

(1

(J]

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Exchange differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

BORROWING COSTS

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(K] EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(L)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

INCOME TAX

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation
as reported in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because of items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(L) INCOME TAX (Continued) (L) Fr{Z# #)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

BERIB TR G F IS HREF
BERABZEREEBMARTE
FER TS F )RR 2 A E
RERER - —RIBERT - IE
RAERHERZEMEL BT
BIBRES THER - BEHRE
B —MRIZFTA AN E By E R
R HEAARSIR A BE A BRI
MAMEAZER NN EREZET
MBI BR - MEFEZEEA
BEBHAEXZZUIRER (15
BORIN EEENRBEME
H o XAFERERDGN L gat
A - RIS T LARERR I SR SR
HEENMAME -

BRIEAREE A EFIBRERER

2 [0 5 Ko B ey 22 RRAE A S SRAD
AIREEI B - BRRERIAAE

BERNRHE AR RBE QR 2
RENRGEERZERBRAZ
JEART B I B T DARERR » HEE%
FRE N ERARN AR E R
ERELZECRAEEENA
BEA RAERTUGE N A A BE
SR VY S EE N NEISERTR SPN
T%@E??'J//Uﬁﬁzm °©

EERAEE L REENS RS
HIR®E - WHREE T BRI 6
B RAERT G ARG KA D
EEFRTAE WD L -

hEERREERAT
“E-BEEH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BAFE R AR MY RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 2 —F —FF+ - H=+—HIFZF

AN
N

90

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

{L} INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
or deferred tax assets for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised at initial recognition and over the lease terms
due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(M) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT IM) )5 - [ R%
Property, plant and equipment held for use in the Br T XTI 2 EIN - 151F
production or supply of goods or services, or for AR AEESRHEEmIREHIE
administrative purposes (other than properties under TBRABZME - BEREHEE
construction as described below), are stated in the AR E 1% RET T E R HIB AR5t
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less BEERE (NE) RiRe %k
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent MEFTIER o

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production, RARAEE HEXTHARZRZE
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less AR AR R B R VE
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs EESAR - KABIEEEZEREER
directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location BEEEVEEMNERETRL
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 79 77 A& P L B VAL B MG
in the manner intended by management. Such properties IR o ZEYE T TR
are classified to the appropriate categories of property, EERTREREEI D RWE -
plant and equipment when completed and ready for B K& &Eanl o EHEA
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same MEBECHEHE & ZEEE
basis as other property assets, commences when the AT AERE e R FIIAHTE o

assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of BE (EEMERIN 2HET
assets (other than properties under construction) less their RE A A F B A B AR MEE K
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight- NREEER  c REWMEHR -
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values HeRs et FRFEE - BE
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each MITERE - Mmibst 2 E A #
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate R B AR REAEEARR -

accounted for on a prospective basis.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

2. FESTTEHE @

IM] )5 ~ 5 R %

1% (=)

(M) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(N]

(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their
fair values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property is included in the profit or
loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
Annual Report 2020

ME - BERRBHRENLES
ERHBEERZEETBHR
RRE BN I ILFER - HE
KERYE  BFELRIEBEEE
&z ER i EsERIR L ERS
REREEREER 2 Z/E
B WNBE AR -

IN] HEY=

REVERFHBUARRES R
HEAIBENYE ©

BENRNIERAE (BRERS
FAAS) 518 - VIR TERIR - |WE
WMERZE QN TERE - REWE
NHEEBELMU S E R
ARELHRNEBEER -

REMENHERFIREYHRK
AT HBEREEHETNSEL
AR RAE P 2 IR AR L FERR » 4R 1E
FERRR R E L EM Kk
BEENERYER R
AfB



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FESFHBE »

(Continued)

(0) IMPAIRMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND (0] Y% BERKZERE

EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss (if any). The recoverable amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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(Continued)

(P] PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT (P] BERFIAERE

LIABILITIES

EXRSEERFEAELIHB
TEHMERCEME - HAlges
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required BERRLHABEZERRE R
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably HEEEE EBEDERITRE 2
estimated. fhEths - BIASHBHERERARR -

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;

KREREZEAESORRAA
BEY  BRABENSERER
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into i&%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ@%?ﬁi‘kﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the WxEME - BEARBEER

The amount recognised as a provision is the best
estimate of the consideration required to settle the present

obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within the control
of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising
from past events that is not recognised because it is
not probable that outflow of economic resources will be
required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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(Continued)

(@] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS Q) =@ T A

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the statement of financial position when an entity becomes
a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

— the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

— the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.
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(Continued)

[Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) Q) @A &)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on financial assets which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade receivables, other receivables, deposits and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and measures the lifetime ECL on each
debtor individually based on the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due
to the Group under the contract and the cashflows that
the Group expects to receive, with the consideration of
forward looking information.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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(Continued)

(Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) Q) @I A &)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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(Continued)

(Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) Q) @I A &)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes
as historical experience indicates that receivables that
meet either of the following criteria are generally not
recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).
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(Continued)

(Q] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) Q) @I A &)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Definition of default (Continued)

Also, the Group considers that default has occurred when
the instrument is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is “credit-impaired” when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:
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—  Significant financial difficulty of the issuer of the — BT ARNBERANEKRT K
borrower; or NE 3k

— A breach of contract, such as a default or past due — EREH (WENOEEE
event: or %)=

— The lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or — ERANERAREGBER
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s A B IS R S A P 3 & H3R
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a F M AER AR ERAT
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise RTERNES =X
consider; or

— It is becoming probably that the borrower will enter — BRABARERBAKESH

S EA -

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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(Continued)

(Q) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) Q) @I A &)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice when
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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(Continued)

(Q] FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) Q) @I A &)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a
practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables
using a provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount with the exception of trade receivables
where the correspondence adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(Q)

(R)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments that are issued are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangement.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group’s financial liabilities including trade payables,
accruals and other payables, interest-bearing borrowings
and lease liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and
the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit
or loss.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks, and short term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value, having been within three months
of maturity at acquisition.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(S) RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others);

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a Group of which the other entity
is a member);

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(S) RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(T]

(b) (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
service to the Group or the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence by, that
person in their dealings with the entity.

OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the directors of the Company.
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3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO

HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRS Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA, which are mandatorily effective for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs has had no material impact on the
Group’s results and financial position for the current and prior
years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B2 = F =L F+=—A=+—HIF/E

3. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HKFRSs (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments'’
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Amendments to HFKRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework?
Amendments to HFKRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2°
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020°

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

g

DIREFEKME

4. REVENUE 4.

Disaggregation of revenue from contract with customers:

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—-BHLHEE

2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Revenue from major business services: T EEBRE 2 U ¢
Revenue from contracts with customers — Z881F2R & 7RI 15 5
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HECEF AN
Property management fee income LEX-SEE1 N 1,022 748
Sales of construction materials HEREEME 125,097 55,087
126,119 55,835
Revenue within the scope of BB EERIE 1695
HKFRS 16 BE Wt
Rental income from leasing of properties 2 E 2 & IA 1,295 1,100
127414 56,935
Disaggregation by timing DI R
of revenue recognition:
At a point of time: A — (Bl A2
Sales of construction materials SHE EEM B 125,097 55,087
Over time: A —{ElRFEIER -
Property management fee income E=SEE=J UGN 1,022 748
126,119 55,835

Details of performance obligations for contracts with customers

are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

BEFANZBHEGHBERGEEM

Bz M2 o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

5.

OTHER INCOME

5. HilgA

For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—-HLEE

Interest income on bank deposit
Compensation income arising from

RITERZ A SIA
EMERERMESL

profit guarantee realisation ZBREWA
Government grant (note) BRATAERL (FIFE)
Other sundry income H AR IEWA

Note: During the year 31 December 2020, the Group recognised
government grant of HK$108,000 in respect of Covid-19-related
subsidy, which is related to Employment Support Scheme

provided by the Hong Kong government.

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

Loss before taxation is arrived after charging/(crediting):

[A) FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019
. —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAT

307 1,469
36,000 36,000
108 —

280 —
36,695 37,469

it - BEZEB-EBF+-_A=+—HIt
F[E - AEBEFCOVID-1948 F #7
B HER AT # BE 108,0008 ¢ - &
BERBBUTREN [ReLE] 5HEB

7

6. BRBIATE B

BEAIBEEMEG, (GtA) THE

I8 :

(A) BITERCA

For the year ended
31 December

BE+t-A=1T—-HLEE

Interest on interest-bearing borrowings

Interest on lease liabilities

HEmE R
AEREZ TS

2020 2019
—g-®F —TnE
HK$’000 HK$'000
B BT
12,166 23,400

71 14

12,237 23,414
FEEZREBRAR

“ERIERFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

6. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 6. BREIBIEIE
[B) OTHER ITEMS (B) EmiEH

For the year ended
31 December

BE+=-RA=1+—HLEE

2020 2019
—B-ERF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Staff costs (including directors’ BIXA (BEESEMSE)
emoluments)
— salaries, wages and — HE  TEREMER
other benefits 3,377 2,756
— retirement benefits scheme — RIREFFH SR
contributions 162 387
Total staff costs B TRAMER 3,539 3,143
Auditors’ remuneration %A & 1,000 1,000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ {FRELEFE 397 129
Depreciation of property, plant M - WENEETE
and equipment 9 19
Loss arising on change in fair value R&YME X FEESH)
of investment properties EEZEE 77,892 2,266
Impairment loss recognised in HWE - BERRERER
respect of property, plant and ZBEEE
equipment 87,937 —
Impairment loss recognised in MIBHEEBEENT
respect of financial assets under ZEREEER
expected credit losses model ZRIEEE 40,723 —
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERAR 124,241 54,690
Lease payments under short EEHMESHHEENK
term leases — 282
Net exchange loss R Ei= Ve — 87
Gross rental income from investment K EREWEZHE
properties U A 4258 (1,295) (1,100)
Less: Direct operating expenses B FREERSBAZ
from investment properties "EWE
that generated rental income ZEEEERAX
during the year 342 340
(953) (760)

,I,IO CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are follows:

EZCHMEREER

NEIRE SIS

383(1) L AE (HEEENEEHR)
MBI 282 REWBELT ¢

Salaries, Contributions
allowances to retirement

and benefits benefits
Directors’ in kind scheme
For the year ended fees He - HER RINER Total
31 December 2020 EEHd ENFE FEIHR a5t
BE-Z-ZF+-A=+-H HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
LEE THER TR THEx Tz
Executive directors BTES
Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and Mg
Chief Executive Officer) (LE#ETHEH) - = = =
Ye De Chao %@k — — — —
JiXu Dong S — — — _
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
He Jin Geng BB 120 - - 120
Yu Hong Gao Bim 120 — — 120
Chen Yang BF 120 - - 120
360 - — 360
Total &gt 360 — — 360
FEEZEREBRAT

“E-BEEH
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R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

112

’ | = —gi =
7. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND 7. EEREETHAEM
CHIEF EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION T (&)
(Continued)
Salaries,  Contributions
allowances to retirement
and benefits benefits
Directors’ in kind scheme
For the year ended fees e HER RIEF Total
31 December 2019 ok W& BESA A&t
BE_T-NF+-A=1+—H HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HFE FEL FEr FEr FEL
Executive directors HTES
Xu Xiao Jun (Chairman and e
Chief Executive Officer) (ZEFTHAER) — — — —
Ye De Chao ¥EH — — — —
Ji Xu Dong FMR — — — —
Independent non-executive directors BUFHTES
He Jin Geng ik 120 — — 120
Yu Hong Gao HIFAR=) 120 — — 120
Chen Yang BF 120 — — 120
360 — — 360
Total &t 360 — — 360

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group. None of the directors of the Company waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

Except for those disclosed in material related party transactions
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of
the Company was a party and in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

8.

= =ik
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 8. mEHAL
EMOLUMENTS
The five individuals with the highest paid emoluments included AfuEeHFALIBE=2 (22—
three directors (2019: three directors) whose emoluments are F:=ZH)EE EMeCRGEaH
disclosed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements. The BMERMFTAEE - HHmME (ZF
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2019: —NF - MEB) AL zBE@EnT -
two) individuals are as follows:
For the year ended
31 December
BE+-A=+—HLEE
2020 2019
—EBC-BF —ZT-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Salaries and other emoluments Fe MEMmNe 1,939 1,939
Contributions to retirement benefits scheme RKIE 5T 214t 7k 36 36
1,975 1,975
The two (2019: two) individuals are senior management that is ZMG (ZE—NF  WB) ALHA
not a director of the Company and their emoluments are within HFARREZSCEREBAE  FF
the following bands: ZMeEELRNT
Number of individuals
A
2020 2019
bt 222 —T-NF
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ % 1,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & 72 1,500,000 87T 1 1
2 2

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there was no
compensation paid for loss of office (2019: nil).

BT ZF+_A=+—8HLHF
B - SIESBR A E A RIE (=
T—NFE | o
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14

9.

INCOME TAX CREDIT

9. IEHER

For the year ended
31 December
BZE+=-A=+—HLLFE

Current tax BN ERBEIE
Deferred tax RS
Credit for the year (Note 25) FrE e (FisE25)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the
following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the
first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be
taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon implementation
of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to the
consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both
years.

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to the PRC
Enterprise Income Tax at 25% for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as
the Group has no estimated assessable profits arising in, nor
deriving from Hong Kong for the years ended 31 December
2020 and 2019.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made as
the Group had no assessable profit arising in or derived from
PRC for both years.

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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2020 2019
—z-%5 —T-nE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER BT
7417 566

7417 566

W_B—NF=B=-+—8  FBL
EeRBQOITERE (B5]) (F7
) EBIEZR) (MEFEZR]) - 5| AR
BHFERESE - GO ERR_-F
—N\FZAZ+TNBEEERELZ
WK B o BT AR BT S B R
HE - aEREEELEHE 2,000,000
8 T 5 A 5 4% 8.25% B - iR i@
2,000,000 7% 7T #) )& Fl| 15 1% 16.5% =X
Bt o TREE M AR SIF S B R 6 E &S
CEBERE I RNGEELSE B
16.5% &F1 ©

EZRE BEEMAHINEHEGHE
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EHRER @

REFZ SR % BRER B AR 18 2 ¥
BRAN

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 9.

A reconciliation of the income tax credit for the year to loss
before taxation is as follow:

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2020 2019
—BC-RF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FHET

Loss before taxation BRI AT EE (355,914) (30,640)
Tax calculated at domestic tax BN E 16.5%

rate of 16.5% (2019:16.5%) —E— A 16.5%)

FHEZHIE (58,726) (5,056)

Tax effect of share of results of JEILEEE R A A

associates ISR E 23,854 1,695
Tax effect of expenses not deductible EE V153

for tax purpose IR 59,002 6,263
Tax effect of income not taxable BAERBA

for tax purpose 2GR (6,008) (6,129)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AEERZ FIAKE 8,518 4,473

BB E

Utilisation of tax loss not recognised AER 2 EEAIEREE (114) —
Effect of different tax rates of REA ADE R L LT

subsidiaries operating in other jurisdiction B ARMETR & (19,109) (1,812)
Income tax credit FriSEiE % (7417) (566)

FEERREERAT
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116

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment revenue represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the year
(2019: nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment performance
is evaluated based on reportable segment profit, which is a
measure of segment profit. The segment profit represents the
result generated from each segment with allocation of (i) general
and administrative expenses, selling and distribution costs
under the heading of other corporate expenses; (ii) share of
results of associates; (iii) interest income; and (iv) compensation
income and other sundry income under the heading of other
operating income. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to reportable segments other than corporate assets.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment,
the Group is currently organised into the following operating
segments and geographical areas:

(a) The properties investment segment engages in rental
income from investment properties in the PRC;

(b) Natural gas segment engages in sales of natural pipelined

gases and its construction materials in the PRC; and

(c) Investment holding segment engages in investment in
associates on a geographical basis of the PRC.
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10. & ER @

UTAERBE_ZE-_ZEFR_F—N
F+-_A=Z+—HUIFEAEFELKE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by operating segment for the years ended 31 December 2020

and 2019:

B EbEI oy 2 e M B2 DA

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE-B-ZF+-A=+-HLEE

Properties Investment
investment  Natural gas holding  Unallocated Total
MERE AR REER KAE wm
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TRRT THER THER TR TR
Segment revenue 2B
From external customers RENBRE 2317 125,097 = = 127414
Segment profit DEEA 1,975 856 - — 2,831
Interest income VN 2 305 — — 307
Other operating income, net Hingsh 58 6 274 36,000 108 36,388
Loss arising on change in BENERATEEE
fair value of investment properties EE BB (77,892) — — — (77,892)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  St#1E  BE K R1E
of property, plant and equipment R RERSE (87,937) — — — (87,937)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  FFBHIEERBER T
of financial assets under expected LEREERR
credit losses model ZRERE - (40,723) - - (40,723)
Share of results of associates [EIREE NR  ¥E — — (144,569) — (144,569)
Other corporate expenses Hip (Y (1,949) (19,583) (8,056) (2,494) (32,082)
Loss from operations REER (165,795) (58,871) (116,625) (2,386) (343,677
Finance costs B - — — (12,237) (12,237)
Loss before taxation BB AT R (165,795) (58,871) (116,625) (14,623) (355,914)
Income tax FEH 747 — — — 7417
Loss for the year EREE (158,378) (58,871) (116,625) (14,623) (348,497
Other segment information HivpHER
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBENE (75) — — (322 (397)
Depreciation of property, plant and 0E - BEREERE
equipment (1) (8) — — 9)
Segment assets NHEE 177112 315,950 203,866 1,119 698,047
Segment liabilities HBaE 27,250 10,255 59,303 115,623 212,431
PEERREERAT

—ER-TFEER
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10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

10. & ER @

For the year ended 31 December 2019
HE_Z-NFT-_A=1+-HLEE

Properties Investment
investment  Natural gas holding  Unallocated Total
NERE KRR REER Nl FEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Segment revenue AEE
From external customers REINIEP 1,848 55,087 — — 56,935
Segment profit LT 1,507 398 — — 1,905
Interest income MEBBA 1 1,468 - — 1,469
Other operating income, net HEaBl N FE — — 36,000 — 36,000
Loss arising on change in REMENTEE
fair value of investment properties EEZEE (2,266) — — — (2,266)
Share of results of associates il =N e 3 — — (10,276) — (10,276)
Other corporate expenses Hip (b EHY (2,479) (20,062) (8,943) (2,574) (34,058)
(Loss)/profit from operations T (B8R RA (3,237) (18,196) 16,781 (2,574) (7,226)
Finance costs BRA — - — (23,414) (23,414)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BBiAT (BB) /%A (3,237) (18,196) 16,781 (25,988) (30,640)
Income tax credit ikeaiiin) 566 — — — 566
(Loss)/profit for the year Fr (B8) /855 (2,671) (18,196) 16,781 (25,988) (30,074)
Other segment information HitvpHEH
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERERENE (75) — — (54) (129)
Depreciation of property, plant and nE - BEREENE
equipment (1) (8) — (10) (19)
Segment assets DBEE 192,231 498,210 337,805 1,171 1,029,417
Segment liabilities AHEE 32,734 25,168 46,404 125,000 229,306
Geographical segments 2758

Since over 90% of the Group’s revenue and operating profit
were generated in the PRC for both years and over 90% of
the Group’s non-current assets were located in the PRC, no

geographical segment information in accordance with HKFRS 8

Operating Segments is presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

10. & ER @

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS TEFEFZEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years EEFERERASBEBIHEETE10%H
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as RKEBEFPHIBALT
follows:
2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FiET
Customer A Natural gas business BEA  RRRER 12,042! 48,182
Customer B Natural gas business EEB  RARRER 36,487 6,905
Customer C  Natural gas business BEEC RARES 37,484 —
Customer D Natural gas business EED  RARES 36,083 —
1 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the 1 HE P MR A 4G AR EEE U A 10%

total revenue of the Group.

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10%
or more to the Group's total revenue for both years.

11.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

[A) BASIC LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share amount is based on
the net loss for the year of approximately HK$278,857,000
(2019: HK$28,909,000) attributable to equity holders of the
Company, and weighted average of 4,269,910,510 (2019:
4,269,910,510) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(B) DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

The Group had no potential dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
The basis and diluted loss per share are the same for both
years.

AL »
B D WEES MEFEFRTER

HEFEAEREEEW AT B 10% 3k A
J:O

M. BREE

ARRHEA ABIEBRERREEE
BIMRIE NIRRT S

(A) BIRELXEE

BREAREEBIBIEARQD A #E
ERFAABEFEABEFELY
278,857,000 ;L (= & — 1L
% 1 28,909,00078 7t) & B F
NEBITEERMEFHH
4,269,910,510f% (=T — N5 :
4,269,910,510 %) 5t & -

(B] BIREZE IS

REBEZZ_FTFR_F—N
F+-_A=Z+—HLEE &&
EfETAERTECE TR
R MEFENTRERRES
EEER -

TEREZREARLTF
“ERIERFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 12. IREY %
2020 2019
—E-ZF —ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FiIT
At 1 January n—A—H 59,227 62,623
Addition = 67,432 —
Loss arising on change in fair value N EEBEECBIE (77,892) (2,266)
Exchange alignment bE 3,319 (1,130)
At 31 December W+=A=+—H 52,086 59,227
Comprise of: B
Completed B%T 52,086 59,227
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all the investment properties RZZEZZEFR-_FT-NF+ZAH
are located and leased in the PRC held under medium-term =+—8: FAEREMEHMRF
lease. MR ERIEFEBHEERA -
(A] VALUATION PROCESSES OF THE GROUP (A] XEEZ1GEREF

The Group measures its investment properties at fair
value. The fair value of the Group’s investment properties
has been determined on the basis of valuation carried
out by Sino-Infinite Appraisal Limited (“Sino-Infinite”), an
independent and professionally qualified valuer.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the management work closely with Sino-Infinite to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The management reports the findings to the
directors at the end of each reporting period to explain
the cause of fluctuations in fair value of the investment
properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 B2 = F =L F+=—A=+—HIF/E

12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

(B] VALUATION TECHNIQUES

(C]

Valuations were based on direct comparison approach,
which is adopted assuming sales of these properties in
its existing state with the benefit of vacant possession. By
making reference to sales transactions as available in the
relevant market, comparable properties in close proximity
have been selected and adjustments have been made to
account for the difference in factors such as location and
property size.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties is
their current use.

INFORMATION ABOUT FAIR VALUE
MEASUREMENTS USING SIGNIFICANT
UNOBSERVABLE INPUTS (LEVEL 3]

12. BEWE @

(B] 1416754

HEDRAERLBORET - &
BRZEMESBRANARSE

E-KE2EEMMBMEER
5 - ERBEI R R E L ERY)
X HAUEMMEREEREN
ERFHAE -

AR REWMERZ A FHER &ﬁ
MEZESMEERER/REE
P °

(C) BEIREAEAT B
HAEE A A FEHE
(E=4) HEH

Fair value
AT

Investment properties 2020 2019 Fairvalue  Valuation Significant

held by the Group =l L T/ F hierarchy  techniques unobservable inputs Sensitivity

FEBRE HK$°000 HK$000  AFE EXTUBE

REN% TR TEL  E# HERE BARE HRE

Investment properties 52,086 59,227 Level3 Direct Market price from The higher market price,

— industrial building F=R comparison RMB3,000/m? to the higher fair value,

approach RMB4,200/m? and vice versa

(2019: RMB4,100/m?

RENE RMBS5,000/m?)

- I¥87 BB TENRETHK TEEE
AK#3,000 T2 AHEHES -
BYARARY42007T R2 TR
(ZB-1F  BYHK
ARB4100TEFEHK
AK%5,0007)

TEREZREARLTF
“ERIERFFR

121



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z
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12.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases are as follows:

12. BEWE @

RENAHELEHENRKKIEE

Wil e @sEmT

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=+—HLFE

No later than 1 year —FR
Later than 1 year and no later than —FERERFA
5 years

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the investment
properties are all located in the PRC and have lease periods
less than 5 years (2019: 5 years).
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2020 2019
. s
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEx TAT
713 384

798 409
1,511 793
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 B2 = F =L F+=—A=+—HIF/E

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13.¥1% - BERRE

Furniture
Construction Plantand  Leasehold Office Motor and
in progress Pipelines Building ~ machinery improvements  equipment vehicles fixtures Total
HEIR BE BT HEREE HEMEEE  BOTRE RE  GHREE &3t
HK§000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
Tk T Tikn T T T Tin T Tihn
Cost A
At 1 January 2019 RZF-n%E-A-A 131,086 107 3435 4868 204 692 73 339 140,804
Exchange alignments i3 (2429) — - — - — - - (2429)
At 31 December 2019 and EA_A—TLH A=1+-Bk
at 1 January 2020 z 128,657 107 3435 4,868 204 692 73 339 138,375
Addition HE 66,881 — - — — — — - 06,881
Bxchange alignments 3 17821 - - - - - - - 17821
At 31 December 2020 RZE-ZF+ZB=1-H 213,359 107 3,435 4,868 204 692 73 339 223,011
Accumulated ZHERAE
depreciation and
impairment
At 1 January 2019 RZF-nE-A-A 8783 107 3435 4,868 191 659 73 339 18,455
Charge for the year REETH - - - - 13 6 - - 19
Bxchange alignments A% (163) — - — - — - - (163)
At31 December 2019and  R=F-NETZA=+-Ak
at 1 January 2020 RZE-EE-A-H 8,620 107 3435 4868 204 665 73 339 18311
Charge for the year REETH - - - - - 9 - - 9
Impairment oss HEEE 87987 - - - - - - - 87937
Bxchange alignments EREE 5839 - - - - - - — 5839
At 31 December 2020 RZE-FE+ZA=1-H 102,396 107 3,435 4,868 204 674 73 339 112,096
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2020 RZEZEE+ZR=1-H 110,963 - - - - 18 - - 110,981
At 31 December 2019 RZE-NE+ZA=T-H 120,037 — - — - 2 - — 120,064
FE EL ?x éﬁ FRAT
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E_FFS—A=1—HIFE

13.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:

Pipelines 3'5%

Building 2 - 33'/3% or over the lease term,
if shorter

Plant and machinery 10 - 20%

Leasehold improvements Over the lease term

Office equipment 10 - 20%

Motor vehicles 10 - 20%

Furniture and fixtures 10 - 20%

The carrying value of land under construction-in-progress was

held under medium-term lease on the PRC.

Certain properties under construction were pledged to secure
a loan granted to an independent third party in the sum
of approximately HK$95,352,000 (2019: HK$89,400,000)
(equivalent to RMB80,000,000 (2019: RMB80,000,000)). The
carrying amount of the pledged properties were approximately
HK$110,882,000 (2019: HK$119,962,000) as at 31 December
2020. Further details are set out in note 30 to the consolidated

financial statements.

The Group performed impairment assessment on construction
in progress by determining its recoverable amount with
reference to fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value
of the construction in progress has been determined with
reference to valuation carried out by Sino-Infinite, which used
direct comparison approach, which the market price per square
meter was approximately RMB4,100 to RMB4,500. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognised
impairment loss of approximately HK$87,937,000 (2019: Nil) in

respect of property, plant and equipment.

If the market price square meter decrease by 5%, while other
parameters remain constant, a further impairment loss of

approximately HK$4,500,000 would be recognised.
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13. Y% - BMERRE =)

FHiE BEERXBEEERATE

RIAHGREEYTE -

BB 31/3%

BF 2 - 331/,% IR HA
(AEEE A%)

= K i gs 10 - 20%

HEWHEEE HHEE

WRERE 10 - 20%

RE 10 - 20%

FRMREE 10 - 20%
ERIRLHZEREANFBIZS
HRFR A A -

ETERMEWER  (EART 2B
N = H#8%84795,352,000/8 T (=&
— L4 : 89,400,000/ 7T) HEENAR
#80,000,0007T (ZZ—1F : AREE
80,000,0007T)) EFRMER - RZF
—EF+-A=1+—8  HEYENE

EE4 /110,882,000 7T (ZZ—Hh
119,962,000/ L) - #HE— F 1B

BRI EE30 -

AEEBRAZ2BEREIENRTER
HERK AT LT RE S REEITRE
FE e ERIEHNAFENDLZRBHR
FrEfT 2 hERTE  ZAEXRBEE
HLESE - BF T ARAMELHARE 4,100
TEAR®450L - HE_ZT-F
F+ZA=+—HLEFE AEEH
ME BMEMRXEERREESELY
87,937,000 87C (ZE—N4F : &) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 B2 = F =L F+=—A=+—HIF/E

14.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 4. EREEE
Land use Leased
rights  properties Total
=+ it f5E FAAE HEWHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT FBT FiBT
As at 1 January 2019 R=Z-NF—H—H
Carrying amount REE 1,774 — 1,774
Addition NE — 967 967
Depreciation charge wEESHA (75) (54) (129)
Exchange alignment P& 5 A% (34) — (34)
As at 31 December 2019 R=ZB-AF+=A=+—H
and at 1 January 2020 ER=Z2-Z2F—-H—H
Carrying amount BRMEE 1,665 913 2,578
Depreciation charge WesH (74) (323) (397)
Exchange alignment M 5, B 105 — 105
At 31 December 2020 R-B-BF+-A=+—8H
Carrying amount IREE 1,696 590 2,286

2020 2019
—7—7q5 :%;:7%35

Expenses relating to short-term EREEATE BB B TSR 5 42 R
leases and other lease terms end F169E N ER B A2
within 12 months of the date A A AL L2 SEEAEE &
of initial application HiHEFHNER
of HKFRS 16

Total cash outflow for leases HERS R R

Lease liabilities of approximately HK$623,000 (2019:
HK$920,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
of approximately HK$590,000 (2019: HK$913,000) at 31
December 2020. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

The Group leases offices for its operations with lease contracts
under fixed term of 2 years (2019: 3 years).

— 282

(368) (343)

ERHEEAE4623,0008T (=%

— L £ 920,0007T) - FRHR T
TFE+ A=+ HNERAEEED
590,000/ 7t ( =& — SL4F : 913,000
PBIT) o ME R T He R B AFT
BEHEEETMERERNINGE
325 - HEEETSHIEEERER -

AEFBHEETHAZHELS M
EANA2FE (ZE—NF :35F)
TEFH] o

hEERREERAT
“E-BEEH

125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

126

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continueq)

14.EREEE @

In addition, the Group owns several investment properties. o AEBEBEE TIREDE - K

The Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments
were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties are
presented separately only if the payments made can be

allocated reliably.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

H oo

SEAZEYFEERZ (BREABHEEL
i) MEBEREAA - RERZENEE
7 AREDE RN 2 EHIE -
{88 P I FRIRBE S AT
FEEMENEE LMD T EED

SO - &

EREEERA MG A ERFRMMA
ERRFNBEERERERNE -

15. GOODWILL 15. 7 &
2020 2019
. —TNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FHT
Cost A
At 1 January and at 31 December RN—A—BEkt+=-—A=+—H 79,909 79,909
Accumulated impairment losses ZitEHEER
At 1 January and at 31 December R—A—BE+ZA=+—H 79,909 79,909
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H — —

Before recognition of impairment losses, the carrying amount
of goodwill was allocated to cash-generating unit under the

properties investment segment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

16.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

16. REFE AR 2 s

At 1 January n—HA—H

Share of post-acquisition loss of FEfREE N AU 1& B 1R
associates

Share of post-acquisition reserves of FEAEH N RS
associates

At 31 December R+ZA=+—H

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s interests in
associates represent 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(PRC) Company Limited (“Forward Investment”) and its
subsidiary (together, the “Forward Investment Group”).

Details of Forward Investment are as follows:

(i) On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a subscription agreement to subscribe the
approximately 40% equity interests in Forward Investment
(the “Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on
10 December 2012.

Pursuant to the subscription agreement, Mr. Ye De Chao,
an executive director of the Company and the original
beneficial owner of Forward Investment (collectively
referred to as the “Guarantors”) jointly and severally
guaranteed the dividend income distributed by Forward
Investment to the Group. The Guarantors will provide
compensation income to the Group if the dividend income
from Forward Investment is lower than HK$36,000,000
(12% of the consideration of the Subscription) per annum.
The guarantee will be valid from the completion date (10
December 2012) of the Subscription and up to the Group
ceases to be a shareholder of Forward Investment. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the compensation
income of HK$36,000,000 (2019: HK$36,000,000) was
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR R
300,318 316,456
(144,569) (10,276)
11,360 (5.862)
167,109 300,318

RZE_ZTFR-_FT—NF+=A
=t+t—H AEERBELT R
BERZEMEE (FE) BRAR ([F
MEE]) REWBAR ([FRMIEESE
B |) 2 40% f&#E -

T EFIBUT

() RZBE——FHALAZ+EH K
NA—REEWNBLARIEZEALE
ERAREI N —HREREAR
BRIEE 24940% M ([R08
FH]) REFHEENR-T—=
F+ZA+HZEK -

BERBEWHZE AR TES
EEBEERTNREZRER
BBEAN (BBAIERAL XA
MEREREMEERAEE D
K2 B BN o (IR FNIE & IR
2 FIE R B M A KR 36,000,000
BT (REFEREZ12%) - &
RABRAAEBRE/BERA -
ZERKERBEETKAH
(ZZE—=—F+=ZA+H) BEZE
AEETHARMKERRIEH
FMES REE2_ZE_ZTF+—
A=+—HBLEFE #EKA
36,000,000 L (ZF— NLF :
36,000,000 T) ERErEEE
RAPHER o

hEERREERAT
“E-BEEH
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16.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

(ii)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Forward
Investment Group is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown
in the associate’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method
in these consolidated financial statements.

16. RERE NRIZER )

(i) BRARMKRESENTBER
ZEHINWAT - LT BEHEE
RNRIEE B IS E £ R 4w 6
RPN SN e

ZEMEATNEE AT BERE
o A A (T R 2 B o

Forward Investment Group ZNREERE
2020 2019
—E-FF s
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAT
Total assets BERE 447,464 1,104,962
Total liabilities BfERE (29,694) (354,168)
Net assets BEFE 417,770 750,794
Group’s share of net assets of associates /£ [E fE(HEA S A F)

BEHE 167,109 300,318
For the year ended
31 December
BZE+-A=+—RHILLEE
2020 2019
—F-FHF —TNF
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAET
Revenue W zs 749,496 7,130
Loss for the year FANEE (361,422) (25,690)
Group’s share of results of associates AEEELEE NRFEE (144,569) (10,276)
Group’s share of reserves NEE R 11,360 (5,862)
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16.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continueq)

(iif)

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, details of the Group’s RZBEZEFR-ZF-—NF+=
associates are as follow: A=+—8H XEEBE QAN
E3EUAN
Place of
incorporation and Attributable equity
principal place interest held
Name of operation by the Group Principal activities
MR LR rE@RE
£ TEEEBE REZ LA TEEHR
2020 2019
et 20 CTNE
Forward Investment (PRC) Hong Kong 40% 40% Investment holding
Company Limited 00 REER
ZMEE (RE) BRAF
Nanjing Taihe Yingke Property The PRC 40% 40% Property development and
Company Limited* 3 property investment
BERFENRRMEZERAA NERBEINERE
The Group performed impairment assessment on interests AEEBB2BDERBERA

in associates by determining its recoverable amount
with reference to the future cashflow from compensation
income guaranteed. In this regard, the director determined
that the recoverable amount exceeded the carrying
amount of interests in associates and there was no
impairment recognised.

Eq;EXIEHUILEﬁEKE—J—L&Eﬁgﬁ
OB E N B R ETRUER
fi o E’JEJH:ﬁﬁE E=RAAIE
TRBEHE A RERREE
BRHERRE -

hEERREERAT
“E-BEEH
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130

17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the
Company as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are set out below.

Particulars of
issued and
Place of paid up capital/
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital
BRARBHRE/
WELARER BalAe ERBAGFE
Prospect Sync Holdings Limited The British US$1
Virgin Islands 1%n
(the “BVI")
RBRUES
(XBRXEB))
Honesty Services Limited Hong Kong HK$1
EERBERAA A 1B
Honesty Treasure Limited Hong Kong HK$2
EEARBRAR EE 28T
Success Take Limited The BVI US$1
EBRLES 1%7T
City Vision Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1
BRREERAT A 1B
Ampleline Holdings Limited The BVI US$1
ABRAES B
Sun On Chung King Hong Kong HK$1
(Hong Kong) Limited EiE 1A
HzhR () BRAR

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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17. R B D B 2 s

R-E_ZFR-_FT-NAF+-A
=t+—B ARAEEMEAEFED
HE D R EIT -
Proportion of
effective interest
held by the Group Principal activities
REERE
BRRE 2 ILA TEEH
2020 2019
—g-g5 “T-hE
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE M B il
100% - 100% —  Investment holding
RAZR
100% - 100% —  Holding of
motor vehicles
BEAE
50% 50% 50% 50%  Provision of
management
services
REERRS
100% - 100% —  Investment holding
REAR
— 100% — 100%  Investment holding
RAZR
100% - 100% —  Investment holding
REAR
— 100% — 100%  Investment holding
REER
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 17 RHIE 2 B 2 #2820

Particulars of
issued and Proportion of
Place of paid up capital/ effective interest
Name of subsidiary incorporation registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
BRTREARE/ rEERE
WEARER ML ERBARFE 41 Sawdid] TEXK
2020 2019
bt 23 ENF
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
HE % Bk il
Xinan Zhongjing Gas The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 90% — 90%  Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (i) i AR%10,000,0007 construction
MERRERERAR (i) projects
AARERAE
Xinan Shengjie Gas The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100% - 100%  Natural gas
Company Limited* (note (iv)) HE AR%30,000,0007C construction
MRERIMABRAG (M () projects
ARRBRER
Keen Gate Developments Limited ~ The BVI US$1 100% - 100% —  Investment holding
BAERARAA ABRNES 1% REER
Nanjing Taihe Natural Gas The PRC RMB40,000,000 - 100% — 100%  Trading of
Accessory Engineering Company % AR 40,000,000 construction
Limited* (note (ii)) materials
HRRNARREETIRERARA BEIHES
(FiF5E (i)
Gangning Investment Company The PRC RMB185,000,000 - 100% — 100% Investment holding
Limited* (note (i) AR 185,000,000 REER
BEREERAT (R () G
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics Company  The PRC RMB109,984,948 - 51% — 51%  Property investment
Limited (“Tianjin Jun Hua")* i ARH#100,984,948 7T NERA
(note (ii))
RREENRARAA
[REEE (3 (i)
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan Power Equipment  The PRC RMB4,886,027 - 60% — 60%  Property investment
Company Limited (*Hui Li Yuan')* 8 AR 4,886,027 MERE

(note (i)
REENFENRBERAA
CENR (R (i)

TEHREZREARLT
“ERIERFFR
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17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 17 RHIE 2 B 2 #2820

Notes:

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as wholly owned foreign
enterprise.

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as domestic enterprise.

(i) Registered under the laws of the PRC as one person limited
liability enterprise.

* For identification purposes only

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year.

Details of a nhon wholly-owned subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interest

The table below shows details of a non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Group that has material non-controlling interest:

GEE
() REFEEEEHANEBALE -

(i) REPEDEEEIMARNEDRE -
(i) REBEFEEREMAS—ABREER
Al e
(EXS %3]
FRIHEZTRRIEZFEARAERE
BREENARRNBEAR - EFR
R REHMBHBARINFEEEH
RIEANILE

()

RIER - B I A 71T LB TS
B

75 B K3 4 AR IR RO 3 0 9 2 S
| DGEES

TSR BRI B SR A
AEEERANBATNRNE -

Proportion of
ownership
interest and
Place of voting power
incorporation held by Loss allocated to Accumulated
Name of and place the Company non-controlling non-controlling
subsidiary of business 2020 and 2019 interest interest
“RORER
ZE-hE
RAAREN
WEAREH AEMER L 58 RAER
REXEH LY 7] AREFERRRERNER EHEZAGEL I
2020 2020
il = i
HK$'000 HK$'000
THR ThR
Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics The PRC 51% (34,184) (463) (16,620) 16,446
REEENR el
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan The PRC 60% (35,446) (690) 18,323 50,347
REENR i
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interest
BAFERIRRER
ERZEEARB AR (826) 942

2,529 67,735
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17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of a non wholly-owned subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interest (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics

17. R B AT 2 = @

BREARFERRREZNEZER
BARNFE (&)

EBRASERAERNIFEBRBRE
MM BARNMBEERBRZHNT
X ATHMBENMBEEBARE

Current assets RBEE
Non-current assets EMENEE
Current liabilities MENEE
Non-current liabilities JEMBBE

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Non-controlling interests

EN/NCIE PN 5

TR AR BCR

Revenue Wz
Expenses Fis

Loss attributable to
owners of the Company

Loss attributable to
non-controlling interest

Loss for the year

EN/NSIE 2SNy

NNCIE S22 ) S 5

FE1E 1R

FRER

NEIMEEAT SR -
KECREY R
2020 2019
= —TNF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THE T FHET
4,744 3,617
53,871 60,979
(96,733) (23,655)
— (7,369)
(19,440) 17,121
(18,678) 16,450
2,317 1,848
(72,080) (2,792)
(35,579) (481)
(34,184) (463)
(69,763) (944)
PEERREERAT
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17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 17 RHIE 2 B 2 #2820

Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interest (Continued)

Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics (Continued)

BREARFERRREZNEZER

Total comprehensive loss attributable to AR B #H AFEG

owners of the Company FHEERTE
Total comprehensive loss attributable to  FEIZEA% A% B HE 25 FE(S

the non-controlling interest ZHEERTE
Total comprehensive loss for the year FANEHEBEERE

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating ~ &&/ESNFB5E S
activities TA () 58

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing & /EBFTEE S
activities Omi) /mAFEE

Net cash outflow from financing activities @& /EBFTSE S L F58

Net cash inflow/(outflow) BeEmA/ (rh) 58

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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BARINEE (8)
XEC-EY T (&)
2020 2019
- s
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
(36,562) (807)
(35,128) (776)
(71,690) (1,583)
137 (1,582)
2 —
139 (1,582)
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17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material
non-controlling interest (Continued)

Tianjin Hui Li Yuan

17. R B AT 2 = @

BREARFERRREZNEZER
BARNFE (&)

Current assets MENEE

Non-current assets EMBEE

Current liabilities nRBBE

Non-current liabilities FERBEE

Equity attributable to owners of the RRABEE ANEEER
Company

Non-controlling interests IR AR R

Revenue Was

Expenses sz

Loss attributable to RAREE AEIEEE

owners of the Company

Loss attributable to RATIEER IR e
non-controlling interests FE{EEE
Loss for the year FAEE

KEZEDR

2020 2019

t e 222 —T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FHT
7613 7,671
18,488 33,335
(72,842) (1,709)
(23,838) 23,578
(22,903) 15,719
(88,614) (1,725)
(53,168) (1,035)
(35,446) (690)
(88,614) (1,725)
hEERREERAT
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17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continvesy 17 RHIE 2 B 2 #2820

Details of a non-wholly owned subsidiary that has material BEERFERRAEBNFEDEMN
non-controlling interest (Continued) BARNEE (&)
Tianjin Hui Li Yuan (Continued) XEELIR (&)
2020 2019
- —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Total comprehensive loss attributable KAEHEE AFEMS

to owners of the Company S HEBRE (51,623) (1,485)
Total comprehensive loss attributable IR AR R R R (L

to the non-controlling interest S HEBRE (34,415) (990)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRNEEBERSE (86,038) (2,475)
Net cash inflow from operating activities — &&/EBFTBE SR AFE 2 (4)

Net cash inflow from investing activites & /EBIFTEHRESRAFE — —

Net cash inflow from financing activites ~ BE/EBIFTEHRESTAFE — —

Net cash inflow REMAFEE 2 (4)
Except for Tianjin Jun Hua Logistics and Tianjin Hui Li Yuan, BEERBBREEEYRERNEEN
the directors consider that the non-controlling interests of the BN B IER BB ATIREBEZ
other non wholly-owned subsidiaries during the year ended TTFERZF-NFTZA=+—
31 December 2020 and 2019 were insignificant to the Group HIEFE ZEERBRREREAREE
and thus are not separately presented in these consolidated MEMIRE  WILEEZEREH
financial statements. In addition, no separate financial BHREFEBZY - o HFEZ75
information of other non wholly-owned subsidiaries is required Hib3e2 BB ARMEBIBER

to be presented.

f=v] =
18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EIWR & 5 BR X
2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FiIT
Trade receivables, gross JEUE Z R TR ABER 138,299 18,112
Less: Impairment loss recognised in B EWE SRR
respect of trade receivables R BIEEE (20,547) —
Trade receivables, net EUE S ERFFE 117,752 18,112
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The Group generally allowed an average credit period due

within 30 days to its trade debtors.

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date
(or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of allowance

for credit losses is as follows:

18. EINE Z R )

AEBE—RAEBEESERETFH

S0 KHI=EH] -

RER B % S AR B A

[}
an ©

ERNERAH (SR aER B8 - UK
RERE) RHKREEEREE 2RI
BIRR RO

1to 30 days

31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set

1Z230H
31HZE60H
61HZE90H
bR (o) =|

2020 2019
el —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TET

— 18,112
117,752 —
117,752 18,112

FEU B 5 Bk FORE R (4 1) S IR ER 47

out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. BT RERMFE29 »
o+ £
19.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITSAND 19.H f&f WRIE - ZER
PREPAYMENT T RRIE
2020 2019
—ECEF —ZE—hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHBT
Deposits b 123 123
Prepayments TEfS IR 188,684 479,464
Other receivables E bl s IE 24,711 11,507
Compensation income receivable FEYAH B WA 36,000 36,000
249,518 527,094
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (20,176) —
229,342 527,094
Analysed for reporting AITVERER®
purpose as:
Current assets MENEE 229,342 393,653
Non-current assets ERBEE — 133,441
229,342 527,094
FEEZEREBRAT

“ERIERFFR
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19.0THER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The amount represented prepaid construction cost of investment
properties and property, plant and equipment and trade
deposit paid for construction materials.

(i)~ The amount represented compensation income from Guarantors,
details of which has been set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables and

deposits are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

20.CASH AND BANK BALANCES

19. HERFIE - e R
FENFIE )

it

(i)

(ii)

ZEREARENEEME - BERER
WA ZER AR IA R BEEM L
NHE SRS

ZERERAERANMBERA - &
R IR BN A M TS RAMIFE 16 -

H & WK SRR E FT il B RIS BN AR
BMBIMAME29

20. R KR I1THER

Cash and cash equivalents RekBREEHED
Notes:

(i) At 31 December 2020, cash and cash equivalents placed
with banks in the PRC amounted to HK$17,723,000 (2019:
HK$817,000). Remittance of funds out of mainland China is
subject to the relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

(i)~ Bank balances earn interests at floating rate and fixed rate, and
are placed and deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.
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2020 2019
—B-%F —TNEF
HK$000 HK$'000
TER THT

18,491 2,024

(i)

R-ZZEB-_EF+_A=+—H 77
BERFREMNEBITNRSIRSEE
¥ £17,723,00087C (ZZE—NF -
817,000 7T) & 7 Bl A & ) &Y
&S /AE TP EBRAEGHINEES
HIAERAHR A BOEAR ©

FITRBIFDHREFFES - R
PR R ERIR 403248 A A 15
817 -
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21.TRADE PAYABLES

Ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date is

21. BEHE FER™

ERNBZAHENE SRR Z KBS

as follows: (N
2020 2019
—_ 7 —%= ﬂi :;ﬁ—j‘LﬂE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
1to 30 days 1£30H — —
31 to 60 days 31HZEG60H — —
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H — —
Over 90 days im0 15,579 29,877
15,579 29,877

The average credit period granted by Suppliers is 30 days.

22. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

HEBETHFAEEHNRI0A -

zzgﬁﬁﬁ&EMEH%

Receipt in advance FEURFRIE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A Rk B At JEAT B
Amount due to substantial shareholder FER EERFHIE

Receipt in advance represented non-refundable rental payment
received from tenants during the year.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, amount due to substantial
shareholder was unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no
fixed terms of repayments.

2020 2019
—E-%F —ENF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FET
2,550 324
63,299 47,044
9,334 13,204
75,183 60,572

BUHIREF AEE P B EZ T AR
ERE -

RZE-_ZTFR-_F-NAF+H
=t—B - BENEZERRFA/EE
2B NEETEERS -

TEHREZREARLT
“ERIERFFR
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23.INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

23. 7t BB E

2020 2019
—E-%F —TNF
HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET T

Borrowings, secured BE - AEE

115,000 125,000

2020 2019

— 7 —= qi :%E—jlﬂi
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TAETT

Scheduled repayment terms of secured  E AR EREEIETH

borrowings contain a repayment on BEBEENFTEIERS
demand clause (shown under (RRBBEETIIR) :
current liabilities):
— Within one year — —FK
— In more than one year but not — BB —FED

more than two years AT
— In more than two years but not — BBREED

more than five years HBARF

Less: On demand or amount due within 78 : IR EREES R E
one year shown under current BEMRT—F
liabilities Ep et

Amount shown under non-current liabilities 3ERBI B EAT/REI S 58

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the borrowings were supported
by pledged shares of related companies, pledged deposit and
personal guarantee by a director of the Company.

At 31 December 2020, the secured borrowings are interest
bearing at 10% (2019: 10%) per annum.

The interest-bearing borrowing was expired during the year
ended 31 December 2019 and carried the default interest on
20% per annum. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group breached certain of the terms of the borrowings
which are primarily related to the net asset value of the Group.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
has obtained consent from the relevant lender to waive the
financial covenant concerned and not to demand for immediate
repayment of such borrowings. Up to the date of approval
for issuance of the consolidated financial statements, the
negotiation is still in progress.
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115,000 125,000
115,000 125,000
(115,000) (125,000)

R-BE_ZER-_FT-NF+=A
=t—B BEHCEMRBERARZ
By e EALRARRZ —RES
R EAERSE -

R-ZZ-_TFF+-_A=+—H A4
HEBERFRNEI10%(ZF—NF:
10%) &t 8 °

AEEEREBE-Z—NAF+=A
E+—E¢$EWﬂ%’m&¢ﬂ
K% HENFNE - RBEZZT
:?$+—H:+—E¢$E NS

BERGTEEGRR  HEEHEARK
'i@éﬁ/ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ ##&iﬁ,ﬁﬂé'

$E@E§§$EE fff")’( E 0 AR
B s 2w ﬁzﬂﬂﬁﬂai%ux—r

fEE - Eiﬁt/ﬁﬂé"“/m/\ﬁﬂﬂxﬁﬁﬁ“
B ERDEETE -
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24.LEASE LIABILITIES

24 FHEESE

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments
REHENN
RIEHEENH WHRE

2020 2019 2020 2019
= il T T LAl —TNF
GUGIIN  HK$'000 EGLCIIIE  HK$'000

TERr TET TERr TAT

Lease liabilities payable: ERHEERE
Within one year —FR 368 368 327 297
In the second to fifth year, inclusive E-ERF (REEEMF) 307 675 296 623
675 1,043 623 920
Less: Future finance costs B R (52) (123) — —
Present value of leases liabilities HEBEWRE 623 920 623 920
Less: Amount due for settlement within W —FRIESEEN SR
one year (327) (297)
Amount due for settlement after one year ~ —FEE|HEER L 296 623
All lease liabilities are denominated in HKS. EEHEB BB ITAE ©
25.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25. B IEEE
Investment
properties
HK$'000
FiET
At 1 January 2019 W=_ZE—NF—A—H 8,078
Credit to profit or loss (Note 9) PAEE (3E9) (566)
Exchange alignment B 3, S EE (143)
At 31 December 2019 RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H 7,369
Credit to profit or loss (Note 9) st AEE (MI3E9) (7,417)
Exchange alignment b 5 R 48
At 31 December 2020 R-Z-ZEF+-A=+—-H —
FEERREERAT

“ERIERFFR
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25.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

At 31 December 2020, the Group had unused estimated tax
losses of approximately HK$24,745,000 (2019: HK$37,614,000)
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. The unused

estimated tax losses could be carried forward indefinitely

except for the tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately
HK$19,519,000 (2019: 17,892,000) that will expire in five years
for offsetting against future taxable profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

26.EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

(a)

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in
the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised
by the relevant local government authorities, whereby the
Group is required to make contributions to the Schemes at
a rate ranging from 5% of the eligible employees’ salaries.
The local government authorities are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to retired employees
which are calculated based on a certain percentage of the
basic payroll.
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25. EIEFHIBEE @

RZZFEZZTF+HA=+—8"
AEENASARGFHEEERELD
24,745000% L ( = T — 1L F:
37,614,000 7T) ] 445 85 oK 2K f& &R
Mam A o RE)H G IEE B A&
REf#ESE  MEPEEENTES
E#919,519,0008 L (ZF — L4 :
17,892,000/ 7T ) BRI - HSERAFRA
FIEA R PT S R PR FE R B A BB
N B TERI R 2% A - B e A AR
HEBRERELERIEEE -

26. & ERIKIEF

(a) AEBREEERFIMEAEST
ENEDI AR BB RBIED 2 8%
EEETIEAZEE  KE—
BB EATESFE ([RESE
Bl - B EFTEI VBB X
ANBRB 2z REHRFENRETE - 1R
BEESHE  BEXREEES
B /AR E B WA 2 5% R&T
EEHE - FAEBERKRA LR
730,000 7T 5T 8| R ENR 55
%o

(b) MRIFEFEIAREE TRAKER
REEE 2 H h AE R T BT RE
R 2 FUE R K AR B G 8l
(I%F&HED) - it - AEREA
BEEREEH T 5% L L
KRAZETEFL MK - T K
FHEEEZMENDRINER
ZRRSEME  ERELFHEZ
ETANHEE -
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27.CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27. RA K f#E
(A] SHARE CAPITAL (A] BB
Number of shares Nominal value
RHOEE HE
2020 2019
t et 2: 3 T —
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FTHEx FET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 each ~ FREE0.05/87C
2Lk 10,000,000 10,000,000 500,000 500,000
Ordinary shares: EER
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE
At 1 January and R—A—Bk
at 31 December +-A=+—H 4,269,910 4,269,910 213,496 213,496
(B) DIVIDEND (B] &5
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary RIBE_EFEWEMAAG L
shareholders of the Company during 2020, nor has any MR AR R R B SR AR E - T
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting B E R AR RIR RS
period (2019: nil). (ZE2—NF -8\
FEERREERAT
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27.CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continueq)

(C] CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
within the Group will be able to continue as a going

concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of its debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from

prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consist of net debt,

which includes interest-bearing borrowings and lease
liabilities net of cash and bank balances, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued

share capital and reserves of the Group.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were

as follows:

Interest-bearing borrowings
Lease liabilities

Total debts
Less: cash and cash equivalents

Net debt

Total equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Net debt to equity ratio
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BEAE
B Re RIREEFED

BEFH

ROFFER AR
A

BEFHEAEERLE

27. BRA R @ =

[C] EXEH

REBzERER G HEERAE
EETERSERELE XA
FriE @ AR RS s
KmegamE AFRES[E
W AEBMERBEFE 2 EE
SRBE G

AEBZERARBEEABEFR
(EBREHERRE RIRTTAR
BRZFAEEBEMEERE) I
REEBANEEED (BFEAS
B2 BBETRARHEE)

RZFZEFR-F-NF+Z
A=t—RZBELERNT :

2020 2019
—E-8HF —TNF
GLE HK$'000
TR TAT
115,000 125,000
623 920
115,623 125,920
(18,491) (2,024)
97,132 123,896
483,087 732,376
20.1% 16.9%
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28.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

[A] STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

28. AN A Z MR R TR
ER]

(A) K2 a2 I 7

NON-CURRENT ASSET FRBEE

Interests in subsidiaries LS YNE PR

CURRENT ASSETS REBEE

Other receivables, deposits and H b ped kA
prepayment e RIENFRIE

Cash and bank balances R& RIBITEERR

CURRENT LIABILITIES RBaE

Trade and other payables FERTE SRR R EAM

FER IR
Amount due to subsidiaries FEASTHT B A B 5RIE

Interest-bearing borrowing

FHEMET

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFHE
NET ASSETS EERE
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#FE
Share capital [N
Reserves &

TOTAL EQUITY EEBEE

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 31 March 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Xu Xiao Jun

wME

Director

E=%

2020 2019
—g-%F —2-nE
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT
780,066 798,498
498 498

261 990

759 1,488
(58,824) (45,924)
(857) —
(115,000) (125,000)
(174,681) (170,924)
(173,922) (169,436)
606,144 629,062
213,496 213,496
392.648 415,566
606,144 629,062

R-B-_—F=ZA=1+—-AKE
EEAE LT - WE T

ATREREFEHRE

Ye De Chao
EEE

Director

E=%

TEREZREARLTF
“ERIERFFR
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28.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)

2&%@%2%%%%%&

=R R

(B) MOVEMENTS OF THE RESERVES OF THE (B] K1\ Elf# =%
COMPANY
Capital
redemption
Share Share reserve Accumulated
capital premium EXER losses Total
B R RE & 2B A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
At 1 January 2019 R-E-hn&—F-H 213,496 756,049 69 (305,540) 664,074
Loss for the year FAEE — — — (35,012) (35,012)
At 31 December 2019 and —jﬁJr A=+-H
at 1 January 2020 —E-TF-f—H 213,496 756,049 69 (340,552) 629,062
Loss for the year Emgﬂa — — — (22,918) (22,918)
At 31 December 2020 R-ZE-ZF+-A=+—H 213,49 756,049 69 (363,470) 606,144

The Company’s reserves available for distribution
represent the share premium and accumulated losses.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, share
premium of the Company is available for the Company’s
distributions to shareholders subject to the provisions of
the Company’s Memorandum or Articles of Associations
and provided that immediately following the distribution
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2020, the
aggregate value of the share premium and accumulated
losses of the Company available for distribution is
HK$392,579,000 (2019: HK$415,497,000).

Note: Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of
shares repurchased out of distributable profit.
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29.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, cash and bank
balances, trade payables, accruals and other payables (exclude
receipt in advance), interest-bearing borrowings and lease

liabilities, and were classified into the categories as follows:

29. €T H

AEENFECHTIARERRKES
AR HitbEWERES - Hek
ﬁﬁm%~ﬁﬁﬁ%%f\mﬁ%%
REAEMAZIE (FeEEERZE)
FFEEEREERE  WHKEWNT :

Financial assets
Amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes to these consolidated financial statements. The risks
associated with these financial instruments are limited and
the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

The Group has exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and
currency risks that arise in the normal course of the Group’s
business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising

TREE
HIHRAR

TRAE
B SRR

from movements in its own equity share price.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure
in respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risks.

2020 2019

—_ 7 = ﬂi :;ﬁ—j‘Lf‘E
HK$’000 HK$'000

THET THET

176,901 67,766

203,835 216,045
ZETRMITAZHBRAGEMBHR

REBZHEPRE HZFEHT

BERBZRRAER - ﬁh1&$ﬂu
ZHEREATX - EEEEENER
ZERE - ARERE A SUE
BE 2B o

AEBZEZE RPESL MERE

BRI AEE 2 —REBKBRES
EE e REETRERNS#EERDE
R EE) - MARSRERR -

AEBEBORT A RRERANE
BB EAEAR 2 5 AR
23 -

hEERREERAT
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29.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

[A) CREDIT RISK

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivable, other receivables and deposits and bank
balances. Management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as pertaining
to the economic environment in which the customer
operates. Trade receivables are due within a year. Debtors
with balances that are more than a year past due are
requested to settle all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from its customers.

In addition, management of the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate provisions for
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts on
trade receivables. The Group applies simplified approach
on trade receivable to provide for ECL. Trade receivables
are group based on shared credit risk characteristics by
reference to the aging of outstanding balances and the
industry of debtors. Detail of quantitative disclosures are
set out below in this note.
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29.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 29. €RT A »

[A] CREDIT RISK (Continued) (A] EEEf (&)

In respect of other receivables and deposits, management
of the Group makes periodic as individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information. During the year ended 31 December 2020,
the Group recognised approximately of HK$20,176,000
(2019: nil) in respect of other receivables. Detail of
quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

In respect of bank balances, the Group limits its exposure
to credit risk by transacting with approved and reputable
banks with high credit ratings. Bankruptcy or insolvency
of these banks may cause the Group’s rights with respect
to these assets held to be delayed or limited. The Group
monitors the credit ratings of these banks on an ongoing
basis, and considers that the Group’s exposure to credit
risk at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were minimal.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of any collateral held is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset after deducting
any impairment allowance.
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SEEEEREBTLEERE
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&z A e 1T E A E R
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29.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq) 29. €RT A »

[A] CREDIT RISK (Continued) (A] EEEf (&)

Trade receivables

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers. The following table provides information about
the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed on a collective basis by using provision matrix
within lifetime ECL (not credit impaired).

PR E 5 B X

ERASBEEERRERZ —
R REEE SRR BRIk
REPFHERE - TRIZEHAR
EWE SEFmE EERRE
o ZERWE 5 IR R
wEELEHEREEEE OCR
BAEEERE) REBELET
At o

Average Trade
loss rate receivables
FHEEE FEWE SRR
HK$'000
T

Gross carrying amount REAE
Current BNER 9% 2,892
1 — 90 days past due 1% 90 B A 13% 47,282
91 — 120 days past due 91 =120 B Hf 15% 44,884
121 — 150 days past due 121 %2 150 H#1 Hf 17% 43,206
Over 150 days past due BB 150 B ER 63% 35
138,299

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. Due to
greater financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19
pandemic, the Group has increased the expected loss
rates in the current year as there is higher risk that a
prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit default
rates.

EFtEBEEXRTRBERS ATRF
HZAEBEMSZENRMG
it WIREFTUERARLE S
BIA 15 Z AT E 1 & KL 1EH 3
o R COVID-19%& 55 8 %
MBI EERER  RIFHEN
MRS EHERRNKR LT &
AEBRANFEENBHER
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
[A] CREDIT RISK (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
provided allowance for credit losses of approximately
HK$20,547,000 in respect of trade receivables based on
the provision matrix.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach:

29. R T H )
(A] EEEf (&)

B E SRR (&)

HE-_ZT-_FTF+-_A=+—H
IEFE - NEEREBEREBEMR
EWE SRR REEBERE
#920,547,000/8 7T °

TRINRREBEBC AR EEE
HEFER 2 2 RRREEER

Lifetime

ECL

(not credit-
impaired)
>HEAMEEEIE
(REEEFEERE)
HK$'000

FAT

As at 1 January 2020 RZEZTF—H—H
Impairment losses recognised E 2R (EE1E

The following table shows reconciliation of loss allowances
that has been recognised for other receivables:

20,547

20,547

IR IRt E A FE R IR FE R
ERBREK -

Lifetime
ECL (not
12m credit-
ECL impaired) Total
FEER
1218 A M (REE
FEFE EERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FAT
As at 1 January 2020 R-ZE-FTF—HF—H — _ _
Impairment losses recognised & MR EEE 161 20,015 20,176
161 20,015 20,176
FEERREGRAT
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29.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(B] LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to
meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as
possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet
its liabilities when due, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

Individual operating entities within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the short-term investment of cash surpluses and the
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands,
subject to approval by the parent company’s board when
the borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of
authority. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its
liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of
cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating,
based on rates current at the end of reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea) 29. €@t T B &)
N sze A
(B) LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) (B) EIEZ R (@)

Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
undiscounted 1 year or on less than
Carrying cash flows demand 2 years
amount NERFTEES —FRm® —FENLEF
BREE RERHE REX BAWE
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TET TET TEn

At 31 December 2020 RZZ-ZF+-A=+-H
Interest-bearing borrowings TEREE 115,000 126,500 126,500 =
Trade payables BT E S ERT 15,579 15,579 15,579 -
Accruals and other payables [EEtE AR A ENTUR 63,299 63,299 63,299 =

Amounts due to substantial B EEREFA

shareholder 9,334 9,334 9,334 —
Lease liabilities HERE 623 675 368 307
203,835 215,387 215,080 307
Total More than
contractual Within 1 year but
undiscounted 1yearoron less than
Carrying cash flows demand 2 years
amount WERMAAE —FRg  —FHNLEETR
REE MELE REX HBBmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THET

At 31 December 2019 RZB-"E+=ZA=1-H
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 125,000 137,500 137,500 —
Trade payables ERESER 29,877 29,877 29,877 —
Accruals and other payables BB A R E MR TR 47,044 47,044 47,044 —

Amounts due to substantial B EEREFA

shareholder 13,204 13,204 13,204 —
Lease liabilities HERE 920 1,043 368 675
216,045 228,668 227,993 675
FEIEZREERDF
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29.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continueq)

(C]

(D)

(E]

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate interest-bearing borrowings (Note 23)
and lease liabilities (Note 24). The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate
bank balances (Note 20). The Group cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates on bank balances. The Group currently dose
not have interest rate hedging policy.

No sensitivity analysis for variable-rate bank balances are
presented as the directors of the Company consider that
the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from
variable-rate bank balances is insignificant.

CURRENCY RISK

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC with
majority of the transactions being settled in HK$ and RMB.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which
are denominated in a currency that is not the functional
currency of the Group.

The transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in RMB are minimal, the Group considers
there is no significant foreign exchange risk in respect of
RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will monitor
its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arises.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS CARRIED AT OTHER THAN
FAIR VALUE

The carrying amounts of the group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised costs were not materially
different from their fair values at 31 December 2020 and
2019.
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30.CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30. ARAE

On 1 August 2017, the Group acquired 60% equity interest
of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan of which principal asset is a land use
right for a parcel of land. Starting from year 2015, Tianjin Hui
Li Yuan entered into a financial guarantee contract with a PRC
trust company (the “Lender”) to provide corporate guarantee
by a pledge of certain properties to secure a loan granted
to a business partner which is an independent third party
(the “Borrower”) in the sum of approximately HK$95,352,000
(2019: HK$89,400,000) (equivalent to RMB80,000,000 (2019:
RMB80,000,000)) (the “Loan”). In order to protect the interest of
the Group against the loss which might be suffered by the Group
under the guarantee, the Borrower and the non-controlling
interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan entered into a counter indemnity
in favour of the Group pursuant to which they agreed to,
among other matters, indemnify the Group for its liabilities and
loss which may arise from the guarantee. The non-controlling
interest of Tianjin Hui Li Yuan also agreed to indemnify the
Group by offering a pledge of its 40% equity interest in Tianjin
Hui Li Yuan to the Group upon default in loan payments by
the Borrower. At the end of the reporting period, the Loan
drawn down by the Borrower amounted HK$95,352,000
(2019: HK$89,400,000) (equivalent to RMB80,000,000 (2019:
RMB80,000,000)) and market value of the properties pledged
was approximately HK$110,882,000) (2019: HK$120,690,000)
(equivalent to RMB93,030,000 (2019: RMB108,000,000)) which
was determined by Sino Infinite. The carrying amount of the
pledged properties was approximately HK$110,882,000 (2019:
HK$119,962,000) as at 31 December 2020. The Loan was due
on 11 February 2019 and remains unsettled as at 31 December
2020. To the managements’ best understanding, the Borrower
is in active negotiation with the Lender for the extension of the
Loan but no agreement was concluded up to the date of this
report.

Save as disclosed above and elsewhere in the notes to these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no other
material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
nil).

RZZE—tFNA—RB ~EEKRE
KEEHRZ60%HE HFBEE
EA—BMEA T HERE - 8 =-F
—hFE REEHNREPBEGEER
7l ([BA]) SIS IERE L AR
TEER AARAEBERE T
BRA—REBBRN (BIE=H) ([1&
FALD & E 3 %995,352,000% 7T
(—Z — A% : 89,400,000 7t) (48
= AR #80,000,0007T (ZF— N
F: AR%80,000,0007t)) ([EZ])
EER - AREASEE 2 F&m - 2H
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Ko REE 1R B FEHE AR IR R A 25 DA
REBAZHEAT L — D RAIFEE -
Bt HERE (HPEIE) BEX
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REE - RBRERKR BERABDAE
HEFH95,352,0008 L (ZFE— N1
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80,000,000 (ZZE—NF: AR
80,000,0007T)) kB HIREFE 22 HE
Y 2 TE47110,882,000%8 T (=
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AR #93,030,000c (ZFE—h%F:
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31. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following material transactions

and balances with its related parties for the year ended
31 December 2020 and 2019:

(a)

(c)

On 27 September 2012, Keen Gate Developments Limited
(“Keen Gate”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group),
Mr. Ye De Chao (the Chairman, an Executive Director
and a substantial shareholder of the Company — a
connected person), Modern Admission Group Limited, Mr.
Lee Kai Choi and Forward Investment had entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”)
in relation to the subscription of 40% equity interests in
Forward Investment by Keen Gate at a consideration of
HK$300,000,000 (the “Consideration”). The Subscription
was completed on 10 December 2012. The transaction
constituted a major and connected transaction of the
Company. Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, the
Guarantors jointly and severally undertake to Keen Gate
that the return to Keen Gate, being the dividend receivable
from the Group’s equity interest in Forward Investment,
shall not be less than 12% of the Consideration per
annum. In the event the return to Keen Gate falls below
such threshold, the Guarantors shall compensate the
Subscriber on a dollar-for-dollar basis (the “Return
Undertaking”) in cash.

For the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, as
Forward Investment suffered loss and no dividend will be
declared, the Return Undertaking would be exercised. As
such, an amount of HK$36,000,000 was credited in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group
comprises amounts paid to the Company’s directors as
disclosed in note 7 and those highest paid employees
as disclosed in note 8 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Amounts due to substantial shareholder amounted to
approximately HK$9,334,000 (2019: HK$13,203,000).
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31.MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACT'ONS (Continued)

The interest-bearing borrowing was secured by pledged shares
of related companies, in which Mr. Ye De Chao is the director,
and personal guaranteed by Mr. Ye De Chao.

32.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
commitments which were contracted but not provided for:

N.EXBEALRS @)

AAREENEREEBREEREEN
BARE A BB (EIER - Wi R
A AR -

32. EARRIE

RBEHR - REBUATETHER
FHEER A ARIE

2020 2019

. s
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET T

Capital expenditures for investment WEYMENERRS
properties

Capital expenditures for ME - WEERREERT
construction-in-progress under FRITEMNERME

property, plant and equipment

- 44,644

= 88,797

— 133,441
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33.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

(A] KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies
which are described in note 2, management has made
the following judgements that have a significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are

discussed below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
often requires the use of judgement to select specific
accounting methods and policies from several acceptable
alternatives. Estimates and judgements used in preparing
the consolidated financial statements are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
followings are the more significant assumptions and
estimates, as well as the accounting policies and methods
used in the preparation of the consolidated financial

statements.
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33.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN

APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

(i) Provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables

For trade receivables (excluding non-financial
assets), the Group applies the simplified approach
to provide credit losses as prescribed by HKFRS
9, which requires the use of the lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables (excluding
non-financial assets). The loss allowance for
financial assets are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group
uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period. Management
reassesses the provision at each reporting period.
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33.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

The Group’s property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets represent a significant portion
of the Group’s total assets. Changes in industry
conditions may cause the estimated period of use
or the value of these assets to change. Long-lived
assets including property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are reviewed for impairment at
least annually or whenever events or changes in
circumstances have indicated that their carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset, which requires
significant judgement relating to the level of revenue
and amount of operating costs. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an
amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of revenue and operating costs.
Changes in these estimates could have a significant
impact on the carrying value of the assets and could
result in additional impairment charge or reversal of
impairment in future periods.
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33.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

[(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets subject to impairment assessment
were approximately HK$110,981,000 and
HK$2,286,000 respectively, after taking into account
the impairment losses of HK$87,937,000 and
HK$nil in respect of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets that have been recognised
respectively. Details of the impairment of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
disclosed in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

Current income taxes

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
are subject to the Enterprise Income Tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates
of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax in the period
in which such determination is made.

33. DRI R HE =

[B] [EH AR EE = BFIF
1EH 2 BEAX S HE 2

(ii)

(i)

Y - BERRERE
UREREEE (@)

RZZE-TF+-_A=+—
B AEBE#ETRHET
HHWE BEREZHE
UNRFERAEEED D
/110,981,000 7T A K&
2,286,000/8 7T * & & &
M - BB KR RER
EEED B ERNREE
$887,937,00078 7T & T &
TL o BEAME - WE REE
AR fF A ERRERFS
DRI BN AR S IS IREMT
FE138 140

REAFREH

REEZHBEARNHESE
B ABNTBELXME
Mo BEPTSHEER - A
TEHERHIE - REBER
\ET - ZIARH METEH
BOERKETE - ~AEH
ReBBMBINEIRZE
it RERHEETEE
ZEE - HEFFEZHERK
B ER AR 2 £
TR EREZERKTEET
HAR 2 PRI R

TEREZREARLTF
“ERIERFFR

161



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e AR R M

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #2 —F —FF 1+ _-A=+—HIFF/Z

33.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 33. B AT R HE =

J U DG EM E NTS (Continued)

[B] [EH AR EE = BFIF
1EH 2 BEAX S HE 2

[(B) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

liv) EEHREWRZDFE

162

(iv) Estimate of fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of
the Group’s investment properties is approximately
HK$52,086,000. Investment properties are stated
at fair value based on the valuation performed by
independent professional valuers. The determination
of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar lease and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, the Group
determines the amount within a range of reasonable
fair value estimates. In making its judgement,
the Group considers information from a variety of
sources including:

(iy  current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature, condition or location (or
subject to different leases or other contracts),
with adjustments to reflect those differences;

(i) recent prices of similar properties in less
active markets, with adjustments to reflect any

R -—TF+-_f=+—
A NEEREVFENRE
& 49 /52,086,000 JT °
WEYETIRB B FEM
BRNEITR A EIR A TFED
- BEATESRETT
R - EEIRN R E BT
HwERMFE12 0

NHEZ RERETVALUE
KR EMEHRIERT 52
BE - EAEBERBRKOE
MmN AREEEENAE
N E[EFTHRERNZ B -
EHRHLFER - AEEZE
ZIHERKR - B

(i) TEMEE- RS
B (HBREAEBELD
SEMAEDME) Z
MERERT IS 2H
1TER - WIEHAR
NRBBREER

(iy BUAMERBAER
M52 MER - I

changes in economic conditions since the YEH B LA R B 78
date of the transactions that occurred at those BEREZERHIKR
prices; and B B LA 2R 2 A fr] 48 )
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33.ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 33. B AT R HE =
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(B] CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT IN (B] B/ A EEE T B R F
APPLYING THE GROUP’S ACCOUNTING 1EH 2 EXETHER (#)
POLICIES (continued)

liv) Estimate of fair value of investment properties liv)] S REVEZAFE

(Continued) (#&)

(i) discounted cash flow projections based on (i) RIFEAFERKE M
reliable estimates of future cash flows derived EMFHEHZITER
from the terms of any existing lease and other SMETER - MARK
contracts and (where possible) from external RemEMET HRIE
evidence such as current market rents for ERIREHELOHEHAM
similar properties in the same location and AR ZIEFE (W&
condition, using discount rates that reflect ) SN REE (AR A
current market assessments of the uncertainty — B AGERMEI
in the amount and timing of the cash flows. Z UM ERBR T

Bl E) FAA R
ARMSHRERE

ZEREREENTE

EMA 2R ESE

g
If information on current or recent prices of fis R BEIE IR & W) 2 2 BRI
investment properties is not available, the fair AT HAERER - WEWE
values of investment properties are determined Z N FHESEAIRRESR
using discounted cash flow valuation techniques. EMEAEETE - NEEK
The Group uses assumptions that are mainly based Rz BEEERBRSWE
on market conditions existing at the end of each HAR 2 TS o
reporting period.
The principal assumptions underlying management’s EREBEATEMT2E
estimate of fair value are those relating to: the receipt DRFENTHEEZRR : K
of contractual rentals; expected future market Mz E&4H8%  mEAKTm
rentals; void periods; maintenance requirements; Lt BEH RES
and appropriate discount rates. These valuations Ko REEMITEE - 2%
are regularly compared to actual market yield, and HEEHEEERETS RS
actual transactions of the Group and those reported E . AEEEERR S KNG
by the market. P& RHETTELE ©
The expected future market rentals are determined TEHAR IR HEE TIRER
on the basis of current market rentals for similar B —HE A B HERM A2
properties in the same location and condition. UyENBREMSEHSE
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34.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from

financing activities.
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TRAAKRERERZDMELENE
B2 BRASIIFRSEH -
MEERDFELNAEBEIRSRED
IARAKRREREBNGFERERER
DHRABEETHMELEZRERE -

Amount
due to
substantial Interest-
Interest shareholders Lease bearing
payable REEE liabilities  borrowings Total
ERFE BREHE HEEE SRR S

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAL TAT TAT TAL

At 1 January 2019

Financing cash flows

Addition of new lease

Interest expenses

At 31 December 2019
and at 1 January 2020

Financing cash flows
Interest expenses

At 31 December 2020

R=F-NF-A-H

MELERE

EFHAE

MEFX

MBFI

R-ZE-Z&+-A=+-H
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— 11,534 — 234,000 245,534

— 1670 (61)  (109,000)  (107,391)

_ _ 967 — 967
23,400 - 14 — 23,414
23,400 13,204 920 125,000 162,524
(2,084) (3,870) (368) (10,000) (16,322)
12,167 — 71 — 12,237
37,650 9,334 623 115,000 162,607
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35.MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following major non-cash investing
and/or financing activities which are not reflected in the
consolidated statements of cash flows:

(i)

(ii)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
entered into new lease agreements of office for 3 years.
On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
approximately HK$967,000 of lease liability and right-of-
use asset of the same amount.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
acquired certain property, plan and equipment and
investment properties at a consideration of approximately
HK$66,881,000 and HK$67,432,000 respectively, of
which the considerations was paid during the year ended
31 December 2019.

36.SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There is no significant event took place subsequent to the end
of the reporting period.

37.APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2021.

J.ETEFRERH

AEEDETATEIZHRERER
SEREEY  ZERPDABEREE
RenBRPRB

(i)

(ii)

BE_ZT-NAF+-_A=t—H
EFE AEETIRH3FH
G - REERKBR - K
EE®RA 67,0008 T2 HE
BEMAFEBEEREEE -

He—_Z2-_ZF+_-_A=+—H
tFE AEECKREETY
¥ BERRBUARKEDE
RAB S 5495 66,881,000 7% 7T A
67,432,000 8T * ZEREE
REZ-_Z—NF+_A=1+—
HIEFEX -
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RESULTS

Revenue HER

Loss attributable to KARHEAEE
owners of the Company B#E

Dividends BRE

Basic loss per share SREREE

Diluted loss per share SREEEE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

ES

For the year ended 31 December
HZ+t-A=1+-ALEE

Total assets BEHE
Total liabilities BEEE
Net assets BEFE

CHINA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT LIMITED
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
bl TN —E-)\& ZE—+F ZERF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TEL FAT FET TEL
127414 56,935 56,182 26,144 15,691
(278,857) (28,909) (20,088) (44,700) (5,507)
(6.53) centsfli  (0.68) centsfll  (0.47) centslll  (1.05) centsfll  (0.13) cents Ll
NATER NATER N/ATNEFA N/ATEHA N/ATNEF
EEREE
At 31 December
R+=A=+-H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
bbb —T-NE —E-\&  —E—+F T RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FaxT TET FET TET FHEL
698,047 1,029,417 1,143,536 1,243,833 1,407,610
(212431)  (229306)  (291.898)  (320014)  (601,888)
485,616 800,111 851,638 923,819 805,722




GROUP PROPERTIES
EJEEYE S

At 31 December 2020 R —E - F#+_-H=+—H

Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of BRI interest
Location Intended use lease term (sq. m.) REME
B BERR HYOFHER (FFHXK) (%)
Properties held for investment iFER &%
No. 34 Di Ba Da Jie, Industrial premises for rental Medium Approximately 51
Development Area, EHERSZ THEME A #911,512.07
Tianjin City,
the PRC
Gy
REM
&R
FENRE 3458
Properties under development 3 h ¥
East of Haining Street, Industrial premises for rental Medium Approximately 60
and north of Haichuan Street, ERERS c TEY HHR #29,012.72
Tianjin Development Zone,
Tianjin City,
the PRC
h
RAET
REFRE R
BEHR 8L
FEEZREBRDF

“E-BEEH
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Group Properties

EELYES

At 31 December 2020 R —ZFE - F#+_-H=+—H

Total gross
floor area Group’s
Category of BRI interest
Location Intended use lease term (sq. m.) REME
B BERR HYOFHER (FFHXK) (%)
Properties held for sale #{EH &%
Rooms 810 and 1706 in Block 8 of Residential/Commercial premises  Long Approximately 40
Huijinjiulong Commercial Street, FE EEDE = H3 47116.67
No. 699 Chengxin,
Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,
Jiangning District,
Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province,
the PRC
I
TERE
MR EE
PRBE BT E A8 699 5%
ETNERXEESE
810 21706 &
Rooms 101 to 104 in Block 47 Residential/Commercial premises  Long Approximately 40
and Rooms 101 to 104 in T EENE R #71,710.89

Block 48 of Hongjingya Villa,
No. 2888 Hongjing Main Road,
Moling Jiedao,

Jiangning District,

Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province,

the PRC

a3

TERAE

MmmLER
REE AT B AR KE
28885k s R HEEE
EATE101 E104 =
RE481E 101 2104 E
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